

INSTITUTE OF HEALTH SCIENCE FACULTY OF PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Human Health Risk Assessment for Consumption of Vegetable Cultivated by Fertigation of Municipal Solid Waste Compost with Natural Soil in Jimma Town, Ethiopia

BY: NEGA KENEA (BSc)

A Thesis Submitted to Jimma University, Institute of Health, Faculty of Public Health, Department of Environmental Health Science and Technology; in Partial Fulfillment for Requirements of Masters of Science in Environmental Science and Technology

> November, 2019 Jimma, Ethiopia

Human Health Risk Assessment for Consumption of Vegetable Cultivated by Fertigation of Municipal Solid Waste Compost with Natural Soil in Jimma Town, Ethiopia

Advisor

Abebe Beyene (PhD, Associate Professor) Mr.Hailu Endale (PhD, Candidate)

A Thesis Submitted to Jimma University, Institute of Health, Faculty of Public Health, Department of Environmental Health Science and Technology; in Partial Fulfillment for Requirements of Masters of Science in Environmental Science and Technology

November, 2019

Jimma, Ethiopia

Approval sheet

As thesis research advisors, we here by certify that we have read and evaluated this thesis prepared under our guidance by Nega Kenea entitled as "Human Health Risk Assessment for Consumption of Vegetable Cultivated by Fertigation of Municipal Solid Waste Compost with Natural Soil in Jimma Town, Ethiopia

. We recommended that it could be submitted as fulfilling the thesis requirement.

Abebe Beyene (PhD, Associate Professor)		
	Signature	Date
Mr.Hailu Endale (PhD, Candidate)		

Signature Date

As member of the board of examiners of the Msc. thesis open defense examination, we certify that we have read and evaluated the thesis prepared by Nega Kenea and examined the candidate. We recommend that the thesis be accepted as fulfilling the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Environmental Science and Technology.

Chairperson	Signature	Date
Internal Examiner	Signature	Date
External Examiner	Signature	Date

Declaration

I declare that this research paper is my own original work and has not been presented for a degree or other award in any other university and that all sources of materials used for the research paper have been correctly acknowledged.

Declared by:

Name: Nega Kenea

Signature:_____Date:____

ABSTRACT

Background: Heavy metal pollution is a menace to our environment as they are foremost contaminating agents of our food supply, especially vegetables. This is great concern to the public health, agricultural production, and environmental health.

Objective: to assess human health risk for consumption of vegetable cultivated by fertigation of municipal solid waste compost with natural soil in Jimma town, Ethiopia.

Methods: The study was conducted in Jimma town 2019 by using cross sectional study design. The samples were collected during dry season for heavy metal analysis from two sites (Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki sites). Heavy metal concentration was analyzed by atomic absorption spectrophotometer. Health risks associated with these heavy metals (As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn) from consumption of vegetable (tomato, beetroot, lettuce, onion and spinach) were assessed based on total hazard quotients:

Findings: The concentration of heavy metals in edible parts of vegetables increase in vegetables grown in Abdi Jimma when compared with Aba Milki farm site metal concentration for Zn, Pb, Cu, and As. The mean metal concentrations in vegetable for As(0.72) and Zn(65.48) was above the safe limits of World Health Organization's standards, while the mean Cd(0.0745), Cr(0.36), Pb(0.176) and Cu(3.33) concentration were below safe limit. Health risk for As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn, possess nearly free of risk to the local in habitants through consumption of contaminated vegetable grown in the area as the value for total hazard quotient was less than 1, but the long term accumulation of these metal gradually increase the concentration in the environment and accumulates in the body and can cause serious health problems.

Conclusions: Natural compost preparation from waste materials requires detail characterization and selecting waste items with low concentration of heavy metals. Regular monitoring of heavy metals is essential to prevent excessive build up in the food chain and prevent serious health risk of population.

Recommendation: the composition of organic fertilizer and the soils from which vegetable crops can grow should be monitored and regulated.

Key words: Vegetables, Metal accumulation, Daily intake of metals, Health risk index.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and for most I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisors Dr. Abebe Beyene (PhD. Associate Professor) and Mr. Hailu Endale for their incredible advice and support from initial proposal development up to the final presentation of this thesis. I want to extend my gratitude's for department of Environmental Health Science and Technology for allowing me to work my research in the Laboratory and giving me necessary material and letter of support to different organization.

I would also like to offer special acknowledgment to Mr. Yohanis Zerihun for financial and moral support throughout my research work. My next gratitude goes to my friends Mr. Tujuba Teshoma, Zelalem Sisay, Desta Hordofa, Biftu Endale and Jembere Degefa for their comment, suggestion and motivation.

Above all, I would like to give great thanks to the Almighty God, who led me through all the hard and difficult times and give me the strength to complete this research paper. Lastly but not the least my heartfelt gratitude shall go to all my family whose name is not mentioned here for helping me by advising and giving their full time.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTii
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLE
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSix
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
1.1. Background of the study1
1.2. Statement of problem
1.3. The significance of the study 4
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1. Heavy metals
2.2. Selected heavy metals
2.2.1. Lead
2.2.2. Copper (cu)
2.2.3. Arsenic
2.2.4. Chromium (Cr)
2.2.5. Zinc (Zn)
2.2.6. Cadmium
2.3. Heavy metal in soil10
2.4. Heavy metal in vegetables10
2.5. Health risks due to heavy metal11
CHAPTER THREE: OBJECTIVES OF THE STUDY13
3.1. General objective

3.2. Specific objectives13
CHAPTER FOUR: MATERIALS AND METHOD14
4.1. Study Area14
4.2. Study Design and period15
4.3. Field Experimental Design15
4.3.1. Sample collection, transportation and storage15
4.4. Chemicals, Reagents and Instruments17
4.4.1. Chemicals and Reagents17
4.4.2. Apparatus and Equipment17
4.3. Sampling and sample size17
4.4. Cleaning of glassware and sampling materials18
4.5. Digestion of Compost, soil, water and vegetable sample for heavy metal analysis
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
 4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
 4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
 4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
 4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample184.5.2. Digestion of soil samples for heavy metal analysis184.5.3. Digestion of water sample for heavy metal analysis194.5.4. Digestion of vegetable samples for heavy metal analysis194.6. Calibration procedure204.7. Physicochemical and trace metal analysis204.7.1 Physicochemical analysis of water and soil sample20
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample184.5.2. Digestion of soil samples for heavy metal analysis184.5.3. Digestion of water sample for heavy metal analysis194.5.4. Digestion of vegetable samples for heavy metal analysis194.6. Calibration procedure204.7. Physicochemical and trace metal analysis204.7.1 Physicochemical analysis of water and soil sample204.7.2. Heavy metal analysis20
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample
4.5. 1 Digestion of the compost sample.184.5.2. Digestion of soil samples for heavy metal analysis.184.5.3. Digestion of water sample for heavy metal analysis.194.5.4. Digestion of vegetable samples for heavy metal analysis.194.6. Calibration procedure.204.7. Physicochemical and trace metal analysis.204.7.1 Physicochemical analysis of water and soil sample.204.7.2. Heavy metal analysis.204.7.4. Digestion.204.7.5. Heavy metal analysis.204.7.6. Calibration procedure.204.7.1 Physicochemical analysis of water and soil sample.204.7.2. Heavy metal analysis.204.7.3. Digestion analysis.204.7.4. Digestion analysis.204.7.5. Digestion analysis.204.7.6. Calibration procedure.204.7.7.2. Heavy metal analysis.204.8. Data Analysis.214.9. Quality assurance.21

4.10.1 Accuracy
4.11. Method Detection Limit
4.12. Analytical method validation22
4.13. Data Analysis22
4.13.1. Soil-Plant transfer Coefficient (%)
4.13.2. Estimation of Daily intake of heavy metal23
4.13.3. Health risk and total hazard quotient23
4.14. Ethical Consideration24
4.15. Dissemination of the results24
CHAPTER FIVE: RESULT
5.1. Physicochemical and trace metal constituent of water, compost, soil, and vegetables
5.1.1. Physicochemical constituents of water sample25
5.1.2. Heavy metal concentration in water samples25
5.2. Physicochemical and trace metal constituent of municipal solid waste compost
5.3. Heavy metal concentration in MSW Compost samples26
5.4. Physicochemical composition of soil in farming site
5.5. Heavy metal concentration of soil in farming site
5.6. Heavy metal concentration in vegetable
5.7. Soil-Plant Transfer Coefficients
5.8. Soil Results correlation Analysis
5.9. Comparison of heavy metal in soil and vegetables
5.10. Distribution of heavy metal in farming site from the four different sources31

5.11. Estimation of Daily intake of heavy metal
5.12. Health risk and total hazard quotient32
CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION
6.1 Physicochemical constituents of water sample
6.1.1 Heavy metals in water sample
6.2. PH, Electric Conductivity and Heavy Metals Concentrations in Municipal Solid Waste compost in both farming site
6.2.1. Heavy metals concentrations in municipal solid waste compost35
6.3. PH, Electrical conductivity and Heavy metals Concentrations in Soil at Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming Sites
6.3.1. Heavy metals concentration in soil
6.4. Heavy Metals concentration in Plant
6.5 Transfer of heavy metals from soils to vegetables43
6.6. Daily intake of metals (DIM)44
6.7. Health risk index (HRI)45
6.8. Total hazard quotient (THQ)45
CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION47
7.1. Conclusion
7.2. Recommendation48
8. REFERANCE
Annex 1
Annex 2
Annex 3

LIST OF FIGURES

List	page
Figure1: Map of the study area	.16
Figure2: Heavy metal distribution in different source	.32
Figure 3: calibration curve for Arsenic	60
Figure 4: calibration curve for cadmium	60
Figure 5: calibration curve for Zink	61
Figure 6: calibration curve for Chromium	61
Figure 7: calibration curve for Lead	62
Figure 8: calibration curve for Cupper	62

LIST OF TABLE

List pa	ige
Table 1: sample size and sampling source for heavy metal	19
Table 2: Physicochemical and trace metal constituents of water samples	26
Table 3: Physicochemical and trace metal constituents of MSW compost sample.	27
Table 4: Physicochemical and trace metal constituents of soil samples	28
Table 5: Comparison of Metals in Soil Samples with Different Standards	28
Table 6: heavy metal concentration in vegetables	.29
Table 7: Transfer coefficient of heavy metal from soil to vegetable	.30
Table 8: Correlation coefficient matrix for the trace metals in soil samples30	0
Table 9: comparison of heavy metal in vegetable and soil	31
Table 10: Daily intake of heavy metal from vegetables	.34
Table 11: Health risks and Hazard quotient	.35

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAS	Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FAAS	Flame Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization
LOQ	Limit of quantization
MDL	Method detection limit
MSWC	Municipal solid waste compost
PPM	Parts Per Million
SD	Standard deviation
SRM	Standard Reference Material
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background of the study

Heavy metals pollution is a hazard to our environment as they are for most contaminating agents of our food supply, especially vegetables (Chauhan,2014). Vegetables get contaminated by absorbing heavy metals from polluted air, soil, and water (Sharma *et al.*, 2008). Heavy metals pollution in soil and water has a lot of adverse effects and great concern to the public health, agricultural production, and environmental health (Singh *et al.*, 2010). The soil pollution is mainly due to disposal of industrial and usage of Municipal solid waste compost (MSWC).

Municipal solid waste compost (MSW) and its subsequent application to agricultural land is gaining popularity because of environmental concerns associated with the disposal of this material in landfills. It is affordable and cheaper compared to chemical fertilizers. However, there is a rising concern over MSWC often contains potentially toxic elements, that can cause soil contamination, phytotoxicity and undesirable residues in plant and animal products (Alloway *et al.*,1991).

As a matter of fact, pollution problems may arise if toxic metals are mobilized into the soil solution and are taken up by plants or transported in drainage waters. Risk for human health may then occur through consumption of such crops and intake of contaminated waters. This is particularly the case for heavy metals in MSWC due to their ubiquity and toxicity. Nevertheless, the main risks associated with the use of organic wastes in agriculture cannot be evaluated directly through determination of the total contents of metals in those materials, since the chemical or physicochemical forms of metals strongly affect their mobility, reactivity and availability to plants (Singh *et al.*, 2010).

In the long term, the use of MSWC can also cause a significant accumulation of Zn, Cu, Cr, Pb, As and Cd in the soil and plants (Goyer, 1997).Many growing areas in the developing countries are vulnerable to air pollution due to the fact that heavy metals containing aerosols are normally deposited on soil surface and get absorbed by vegetables or sometimes get deposited on plant leaves (Voutsa, 1996).The uptake of heavy metals by the plants from the

soil depends on different factors, including application of agrochemicals, solubility of heavy metals, soil pH, soil type, and plant species (Lubben and Sauerbeck, 1991).

Leafy vegetables accrue higher amounts of heavy metals in roots and leaves than stems and fruits (Azimi and Yargholi, 2008). The heavy metals at exceedingly higher concentrations than the required physiological demand of vegetables can cause lethal effect in them as well as human health through food chain (Goyer, 1997). Vegetables constitute the most important daily diets in many of the households globally (Sinha *et al* 2006). However, the consumption of leafy vegetables is reported to increase in the urban community Othman (2001) various researches revealed heavy metals like Cu, As, Zn, Fe, Pb, Cd, Mn, and Cr to be significant contaminants of vegetables in urban agriculture(Sharma, *et al.*, 2008). Heavy metals like Cu, Zn, and Fe play a significant role in plant physiology but heavy metals such as Pb, As, Cd, and Cr are exceptionally toxic and dangerous environmental pollutants (Demirezen and Aksoy, 2006).

A number of studies have shown that some common vegetables including *spinach*, *lettuce*, *beetroot*, *tomato and onion* species are proficient of accruing high heavy metals levels from municipal solid waste compost used as organic fertilizers or contaminated irrigating water (Sharma *et al.*, 2006). The consumption of vegetables is the main route of heavy metal toxicity to humans (Intawongse and Dean, 2006).

The ingestion of heavy metal contaminated vegetables may lead to various long-term lingering diseases; for instance, continuous exposure of Cd can cause pulmonary effects like emphysema, bronchiolitis, and alveolitis (Duruibe*et al.*, 2007) while short-term exposure of Cd can cause renal effects. The chronic buildup of heavy metals in the liver and kidney of humans results in disruption of many biochemical processes, which leads to nervous, kidney, cardiovascular, and bone diseases Arup(2003) while high Zn content may cause growth and reproduction impairment. Lead toxicity causes dysfunction of kidney, reproductive and cardiovascular systems, joints problems, lessening in hemoglobin formation, and enduring impairment to the central and peripheral nervous systems (Ogwuegbu and Muhanga, 2005).

2

Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming site were located in Jimma town, Oromia region, Ethiopia. From both farm sites farmers and customers take municipal solid waste compost to improve soil fertility and to increase crop yield. However, the application of composts has raised serious doubts as it relates to public health safety of its use to grow crops destined for human consumption. Research has shown that the heavy metals content in composts have the potential to contaminate crops especially for vegetables grown using it (Manju *et al.*, 2013). Thus, a better understanding of heavy metals content in the composts and their availability for uptake by plants grown on them is primary importance in assessing the health risk such plants could cause when consumed by man (Koenig *et al.*, 1990; Mench *et al.*, 1994).

Therefore, the present study assesses heavy metals' levels (As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn) in growing soil, irrigating water, MSWC and five popularly consumed vegetables, tomato, beetroot, lettuce, onion, and spinach from the Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farm site. It also calculates the soil-plant transfer coefficients of heavy metals for each vegetable, heavy metal average daily intake rate, hazard quotient (HQ), and hazard index (HI). The last two indices help in assessing potential human health risk that can occur due to consumption of the vegetables. The study hypothesizes that consumption of vegetable cultivated by municipal solid waste compost with natural soil has risk effect for human health.

1.2. Statement of problem

Jimma town which have large number of population and catchment area and also different institutions with different social and economic activities which can contribute for waste production with high rate.Even though the town has such huge organization, the waste handling was poor. Study conducted in different parts of the world and also in different towns of Ethiopia shows that the urban municipal solid waste compost may contain different heavy metals and this heavy metal can accumulate in soil and it will transfer to the vegetables and finally human beings can accumulate this heavy metals during consumption and finally it will pose health effects to humans.

Different research indicated that vegetable grown on contaminated soil with MSWC have risky effects on human health by their consumption due to high concentration of heavy metal (Khan *et al.*, 2008; Gosh *et al.*, 2012).

Study conducted on the concentration of Cadmium, Chromium, Zinc, Arsenic and Lead in compost were recorded above the permissible limits set by WHO in Soil sample and the concentration of heavy metal in vegetable were also above the permissible limits by WHO(Alexander *et al.*,2014).

Heavy metals such as cadmium, lead, chromium, and arsenic are highly toxic due to their insistent and bioaccumulation nature. The continuing exposure to such toxic metals in the food crops has harmful effects on human health and causes bone, brain damage, mental retardation, cerebral palsy, lung cancer, gastrointestinal abnormalities, and dermatitis, death of the unborn fetus, heart, brain and kidney diseases from their consumption. Furthermore, cadmium and mercury have cancer-causing effects (Hussain *et al.*, 2001; Jarup 2003) but there is no medical method through which these metals can be removed from their body (Bhuiyan *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it is necessary to assess and quantify the health consequences of the exposure to such a contaminated environment (Ma *et al.*, 2006; Khan *et al.*, 2015).Thus, this paper assesses human health risk assessment for consumption of vegetable cultivated by fertigation of municipal solid waste compost with natural soil in Jimma town, Ethiopia.

1.3. The significance of the study

To provide information on the fate of heavy metals in municipal solid waste compost in Jimma town; this information was guide in formulating an appropriate land use and management policy for this type of ecosystem.

This study was help: To reduce the health risk associated with consuming heavy metal contaminated vegetable and to communicate with local expertise on the result through dissemination of the finding and discussion. To provide scientific information to government organization like agricultural bureaus about the health hazards of municipal solid wastes compost. To deliver a base line data on the levels of heavy metals in soil, vegetable and municipal solid waste compost in Jimma town.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Heavy metals

Heavy metals are elements having a density greater than 5 g/cm3 in their elemental form (Bose and Hemantaranjan, 2005; Misra and Mani, 2009).Heavy metals are often referred to as trace metals, occurring naturally in low concentration in organisms, although the term transmittal might imply by organism for the particular metal. They are not biodegradable and undergo ecological cycle. Some metals are very essential to life but they are toxic at high level of dose (Ukpebor *et al.*, 2003). Emission of heavy metals to the environmental occurs via a wide range of process and path ways, including to the air, to surface water and to the soil. Tends be greatest effect on human health.

The accumulations of heavy metals in soil reach concentration since become a threat to vegetation and animals. Ultimately affect the quality of human life through food chain. Heavy metals are found in electrical wastes, municipal solid waste and from degradation of organic wastes (Esarru *et al.*, 2003). They can also be found from disposal of house hold wastes. Hazardous wastes, nonhazardous industrial wastes and other chemical by product (Marine *et al.*, 2005). Long-term application of municipal solid waste compost resulted in significant buildup of heavy metals in soil and vegetables and cereals and their subsequent transfer to food chain causing potential health risk to consumers(Perveen *et al.*, 2012).

2.2. Selected heavy metals

2.2.1. Lead

Lead is a common metal that has been in many consumer products but is now known to be harmful to human health if ingested or inhaled. It can be found in lead-based paint, air, soil, household dust, food, some types of pottery, and drinking water. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities (WHO, 1985).

Lead is a well-known non-biodegradable toxic metal in the environment and now it has become a global health issue. Lead poisoning occurs when people are exposed to lead and chemicals that contain lead, breathing air, taking drinks such as water and milk, eating foods such as fruits, vegetables, meats, grains and seafood, swallowing or touching dust or dirt that contains lead(Tiwari *et al.*, 2013). Excessive intake of the Pb to human body can damage the nervous, skeletal, endocrine, enzymatic, circulatory, and immune system(Mahmoud & Ghoneim, 2016).

2.2.2. Copper (cu)

Large quantities of Cu are used in the society for example alloys, electrical cables, pluming and coins. Waste from electric and electronic equipment is the Cu containing smelting. In urban areas, corrosion of copper roofs is an important source (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Chang, 2010). Oxidation state: commonly (II) and sometimes (I) in strongly reducing environments with suitable ligands (Berggren *et al.*, 2006). Dominating form in water; Cu²⁺ and its complex with OC, with the latter usually strongly dominating (Berggren *et al.*, 2006). Occurrence form in soil: Above all, strongly bound to organic material, but also strongly bound to Fe, Al and Mn oxides. In reducing environments, Cu forms poorly soluble sulphides. In oxidizing environments, at high pH and high Cu-concentrations, malachite, may precipitate (Berggren *et al.*, 2006).

 Cu^{2+} is characterized by very strong complex formation to humus, which is also strong even at low pH. Comparing to lead (II), Cu^{2+} forms strong complexes to humus and weaker ones to oxide surfaces, which results in that the content of organic material in the soil in general decides how much Cu^{2+} which is bound. The transport of Cu in soil and water occurs mainly as dissolved humus complexes (Berggren *et al.*, 2006).Cu is essential for both plants and animals but high levels of Cu^{2+} is very toxic. Chronic exposure can lead to an accumulation in, and damage to, liver, brain, kidney and cornea.

2.2.3. Arsenic

Arsenic has also been used for decades as an ingredient in pesticides and fungicides. Arsenic acid $(As_2O_3.H_2O)$ is used as a weed killer and in leaf desiccation of cotton plants. Arsenic is also used in the smelting of ores and in electroplating (Cobb *et al.*, 2000). Atmospheric fallout from smelting and other manufacturing processes can be a significant source of As in the environment.

Arsenic is typically immobile in agricultural soil and, therefore, accumulates in the upper soil horizons (ATSDR, 2000; Janssen *et al.*, 1997,) used a regression analysis of pH, organic

matter content, clay content, iron oxide content, aluminum oxide content, and cation exchange capacity versus As mobility to determine how each parameter affected As mobility in soil. They found that iron oxide content was the only soil characteristic significantly positively correlated with Arsenic mobility. Arsenic mobility is more dependent on ligand exchange mechanisms, particularly with iron oxides, than the pH-dependant dissolution precipitation reactions that regulate the movement of most other metals in the soil. (Darland and Inskeep, 1997) found that arsenate (AsO₄) transport through sand containing free iron oxides was very slow at pH 4.5 and 6.5, and significantly more rapid at pH 8.5. They suggested that liming soil to increase the pH and promote metal precipitation to decrease metal mobility, may actually facilitate the movement of As.

Arsenates As (V) are more toxic and more mobile in the soil than arsenites As (III) (Geehan, 1996). Some aquatic organisms and soil bacteria can reduce As (V) to As (III), increasing its toxicity and its mobility in the soil (ATSDR, 2000; Turpeinen *et al.*, 1999). Under reducing conditions, such as temporarily flooded or saturated soil, inorganic arsenicals may be methylated to produce the less toxic organic forms, monomethylarsonic acid (MMA) or dimethyl arsinic acid (DMA) (Honschopp *et al.*, 1996).

Warts and corns on the palms and the soles of the feet are caused by chronic arsenic ingestion. Discoloration of the skin of the face, neck, and back also can occur. Squamous cell carcinomas can form from hyperkeratosis warts and corns. Basal cell carcinomas are also caused by arsenic exposure but they do not form from the warts or corns. Chronic low-level exposure also increases the incidence of internal cancers. Cancers of the bladder, kidney, liver, lung, and prostate have been documented in animal studies. The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the National Toxicology Program (NTP) has all classified inorganic arsenic as a known human carcinogen (ATSDR, 2000). Organic arsenicals are less toxic than the inorganic forms.

The two primary forms of organic arsenic are monomethylarsonic acid (MMA) and dimethyl arsinic acid (DMA). MMA and DMA are primarily used as agricultural pesticides. Data about the toxicity of organic forms of arsenic are limited; however, based on available data,

organic arsenic is not toxic (ATSDR, 2000). Organic arsenicals are less toxic than the inorganic forms.

2.2.4. Chromium (Cr)

Cr is extensively used for electroplating, corrosion protection and leather tanning, and is also a common additive in steel, which is why corrosion of Cr⁻containing materials is a source. Other sources are the use of ferrandromium scrap from steel plants and mine waste with chromites ore. Cr is a common water pollutant as a consequence of industrial emissions and also the second most abundant inorganic contaminant of groundwater under hazardous waste sites (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Baird and Cann, 2008).

Cr normally exists in the form of inorganic ions where the common oxidation states are +3 and +6. Chromium +3 occurs under reducing conditions and low pH in cationic form, and occurs practically exclusively in the soil. Under very aerobic conditions and high pH, Cr occurs in the +4 state which is always an anion and commonly the chromate ion, CrO_4^{2-} (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Baird and Cann, 2008; Sajidu 2008. In soil, Cr^{3+} is bound to organic material and toxic mineral surfaces and precipitated with iron oxides, and chromate is weakly adsorbed to iron and aluminum oxides (Berggren *et al.*, 2006). In water, chromium (III) occurs as the Cr^{3+} ion which have a low solubility in neutral water and it is often precipitated as its hydroxide. It can also occur as different chromium (III) complexes with OC. Chromium (VI) usually occur as the chromate ion which is highly soluble in water (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Baird and Cann, 2008). Cr (III) is strongly bound in the soil, even at low pH, through complex formation to organic material and on mineral surfaces and can also precipitate with iron oxides.

Cr (VI) can form week complexes with iron and aluminum oxides at pH below 6 but is in general rather mobile in the soil since it is not strongly absorbed by many types of soil. It can be reduced to the less mobile trivalent form by the humic substances in soils that are rich in organic matter but this is an extremely slow process and if chromium (VI) is discharged into the environment, it will persist for a very long time (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Baird and Cann, 2008; United States Environmental Protection Agency 2000).

Cr is essential but at high concentrations, it can cause problems with trachea, cause lung cancer after long exposure, and also complex binding to DNA. The hexavalent Chromium is more toxic, more soluble and more mobile than trivalent Chromium and carcinogenic making it a more severe pollution. The chromate ion enters biological cells, seemingly because of its structural resemblance to the sulphate ion. Inside the cell, chromate can oxidize DNA and RNA bases (Berggren *et al.*, 2006; Baird and Cann, 2008).

2.2.5. Zinc (Zn)

Zinc is an airborne pollutant and majorly accumulates to open and above earth crops; however, root crop plants also assimilate great proportion from Zinc contaminated soils. (Lokeshappa *et al.*, 2012). There are three major routes of entry for zinc into the human body; inhalation, through the skin, or by ingestion and each exposure type affects specific parts of the body and allows the uptake of different amounts of zinc (Plum *et al.*, 2010).

Large amounts of dietary zinc are ingested leads to increase of metallothionein expression, more zinc is bound to metallothionein, and more zinc-metallothionein complexes are excreted. Because of the difference in binding affinities between zinc and copper (copper binds metallothionein with greater affinity), a potential for pronounced copper excretion exists. Therefore, a substantial increase in zinc ingestion potentially would cause a dramatic decrease in copper absorption(Chicago and New York, 2002).

2.2.6. Cadmium

Cadmium is a naturally occurring metal and it can enter the environment from natural and anthropogenic activities and stays intact for long periods of time. Food is the major source of cadmium exposure in the general population. Chronic exposure to cadmium may cause several adverse health effects, including renal and bone damage(Nazir *et al.*, 2015).

Study conducted by (Bernard, 2008) in Hungary shows cadmium as one of the most toxic elements to which man can be exposed at work or in the environment. Once absorbed, Cd is efficiently retained in the human body, in which it accumulates throughout life and it is primarily toxic to the kidney, especially to the proximal tubular cells, the main site of accumulation. The chronic effects of Cd consist of lung cancer, pulmonary adenocarcinomas, prostatic proliferative lesions, kidney dysfunction, bone fractures, and

9

hypertension(Mahmoud & Ghoneim, 2016). In plants, Cd induces oxidative stress in plant cells and inactivates some enzymes (Wieczorek *et al.*, 2004). Cd taken up by plants from the soil accumulates first of all in the roots, and then transported in smaller quantities to stems and seeds (Wieczorek *et al.*, 2004).

2.3. Heavy metal in soil

When plants decay, heavy metals that had been taken into the plants are redistributed to the soil is then again enriched with the pollutants (Sawidis *et al.*, 2001). It has been established that heavy metals in soil are associated with various chemical forms that relate to their solubility which directly bear on their mobility and biological availability. Heavy metals in soluble form have high relation to their uptake by plants (Arora *et al.*, 2008). Apart from the source of heavy metal, the physical and chemical properties of the soil also affect the concentration of heavy metals in soils (Qishlaqi and Moore, 2007).

The uptake and bioaccumulation of heavy metals in vegetables is influenced by many factors such as climate, atmospheric depositions, the concentrations of heavy metals in soils, the nature of soil and the degree of maturity of the plants at the time of the harvest (Scott *et al.*, 1996). Results obtained from a study carried out by Ebong *et al.*(2008) on heavy metal contents of municipal and rural dumpsite soils and rate of accumulation by Carica papaya and Talinum triangular revealed that plants grown on dumpsite soils bio-accumulated higher metal concentrations than their counterparts obtained from normal agricultural soils (Ebong *et al.*, 2008).

2.4. Heavy metal in vegetables

Vegetables are an important part of a human beings diet because they are a source of nutrients. Vegetables constitute important functional food components by contributing protein, vitamins, iron, calcium and other nutrients which have marked health effects (Thompson and Kelly, 1990; Arai, 2002). There is an inherent tendency of plants to take up toxic substances including heavy metals that are subsequently transferred along the food chain Singh *et al.*, (2010) and as such, heavy metal contamination in vegetables cannot be underestimated as food stuffs are important components of human diet.

Heavy metal contamination of the food items is one of the most important aspects of food quality assurance (Marshall, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2005; Radwan and Salama, 2006; Khan *et al.*, 2008).

Contamination of foods by heavy metals has become a challenge for producers and consumers. The main sources of heavy metals to vegetable crops are their growth media (soil, air, nutrient solutions) from which these heavy metals are taken up by the roots or foliage (Lokeshwari and Chandrappa, 2006). The toxic and detrimental impacts of heavy metals become apparent only when long-term consumption of contaminated vegetables occurs. Regular monitoring of heavy metals in vegetables and other food items should be performed in order to prevent excessive build up of these heavy metals in the human food chain (Khanna and Khanna, 2011) take up and accumulate heavy metals in quantities high enough to cause clinical problems to humans (Alam *et al.*, 2003).

Daily metal intake estimate does not take into account the possible metabolic ejection of the metals but can easily tell the possible ingestion rate of a particular metal. Dietary intake of food results in long-term low level body accumulation of heavy metals and the detrimental impact becomes apparent only after several years of exposure. Leafy vegetables grown on heavy metal contaminated soils accumulate higher amounts of metals than those grown in uncontaminated soils because of the fact that they absorb these metals through their roots (Bahemuka and Mubofu, 1999; Al-Jassir *et al.*, 2005). Heavy metals are persistent in the environment and are subject to bioaccumulation in food-chains. They are easily accumulated in the edible parts of leafy vegetables, as compared to grain or fruit crops (Mapanda *et al.*, 2005).

2.5. Health risks due to heavy metal

Heavy metals can enter the body via consumption of contaminated food stuff, water or inhalation of dust (Mahmood& Malik, 2014).Prolonged consumption of heavy metals increase the risk of damaging the organs such as the kidneys, heart and liver as well as the nervous system when accumulating in the body (Schmidt, 2012). Due to high levels, depletion of essential nutrients occur which cause malnutrition. This in turn weakens the immune system, cause growth retardation and psycho-social behavioral disabilities. A diet

of heavy metal contaminated food has also been seen to increase the risk of gastrointestinal cancer (Akbar Jan *et al.*, 2010).Heavy metals can directly influence behavior by impairing mental and neurological function, influencing neurotransmitter production and utilization, and altering numerous metabolic body processes. Many cases of heavy metal burden are associated with industrial exposure and waste water, but our food; drinking water and environment do not appear to be getting any purer.

Certain trace elements are essential in plant nutrition, but plants growing in a polluted environment can accumulate trace elements at high contaminations causing a serious risk to human health when they are consumed(Pradesh *et al.*, 2013).Consumption of high quantities metals in vegetables pose clinical problems both to animals and human beings consuming these metal rich plants because there is no good mechanism for their elimination from the human body(Roy & Gupta, 2016).

CHAPTER THREE: OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDY

3.1. General objective

To assess human health risks associated with consumption of vegetable cultivated by municipal solid waste compost with natural soil in Jimma town, known for its cultivation of vegetable (tomato, beetroot, lettuce, onion, spinach).

3.2. Specific objectives

- To determine the concentration levels of heavy metals (As, Cd, Pb, Cr, Cu, and Zn) in compost, soil, vegetable samples and to estimate the potential hazard by comparing with guideline value and standards.
- To estimate the potential health risk by calculating the transfer coefficient of heavy metals from soil, compost and water to vegetables and daily consumption
- > To identify major factors strongly associated with health risks.

CHAPTER FOUR: MATERIAL AND METHOD

4.1. Study Area

The study was conducted in Jimma town found at south western parts of Ethiopia located at 356 Km away from Addis Ababa the capital city of Ethiopia at 7°40" N latitude and 36°60'E longitude. Elevation within the town boundary ranges from the lowest 1720m from sea level of the airfield (kitto) to the highest 2010m from sea level at Jiren. It is bordered by Kersa Woreda in the east; with Manna Woreda in north, and Manna &Seka Chekorsa in west, Dedo woreda in south direction. According to Jimma town Finance and economic department 2014 annual report, the total population of the town was 192,256 from this male 94,205and female 98,051. The towns have no modern sewerage system and municipal solid waste management is very poor.

The major socio economic activity of the town is trade, social service and urban agriculture. Concerning agricultural activities there is urban farming such as dairy, animal husbandry and poultry activities including town surrounding small scale irrigation which used waste water and surface water as a source and MSWC as natural fertilizer. Almost all of the cultivated vegetables around the town were used for human consumption.



Fig 1 Map of study area

4.2. Study Design and period

Cross sectional study was conducted on April 2019.

4.3. Field Experimental Design

4.3.1. Sample collection, transportation and storage

4.3.1.1. Compost sample collection, transportation and storage

Compost samples were taken when the compost is ready for application by the plant in both farm sites. The sample was taken randomly from different point for preparation of composite sample for one sample in Abdi Jimma and for one sample in Aba Milki farm site. These samples were collected by stainless steel auger in air- tight polythene bags after proper mixing the representative sample stored in polyethylene bags and labeled carefully then transported to the laboratory for preparation. Larger particles and other debris were removed from the compost and then compost samples were air dried in a dry and dust free place at room temperature $(25^{\circ}c)$ for five days, followed by oven drying until getting constant weights. The samples were then grounded with a mortar and pestle to pass through a 2mm sieve and homogenized. The dried, sieved, and homogenized soil samples were placed in polyethylene bags until the time of digestion.

4.3.1.2 Soil Sample collection, transportation and storage

Composite soil sampling method was applied. The soil sampling was done according to the method of (James and Wells, 1990). About (1kg) composite soil sample were collected from 10cm, 15cm and 20cm depth (10-20) cm depth from the site where the vegetables grown (for each site) with an auger from each point (Roger, 1994) and the control soil sample was collected from area outside the compost application farm. Then the sample were placed in clean polyethylene bags and transported to the laboratory for preparation.

Larger particles and other debris were removed from the soil and then soil samples were air dried in a dry and dust free place at room temperature $(25^{\circ}c)$ for five days, followed by oven drying until getting constant weights. The samples were then grounded with a mortar and pestle to pass through a 2mm sieve and homogenized. The dried, sieved, and homogenized soil samples were placed in polyethylene bags until the time of digestion.

4.3.1.3 Vegetable Sample collection, transportation and storage

About (1000g) of Beetroot, onion, Lettuce, spinach, tomato were collected representative edible part of the vegetable. Vegetable were collected according to the sampling procedures described by (Jones *et al.*, 1990). The representative reputable samples were thoroughly mixed to give composite sample as representative fraction of the vegetables (Deribachew *et al.*, 2015). The bruised or rotten portions were removed and the remaining samples were packed in polyethylene bags for transporting to the Jimma Environmental health laboratory. In the laboratory, the collected vegetable samples were washed with tap water and then with distilled water to eliminate adsorbed dust and particulate matters. The vegetable samples were cut and chopped into small pieces using plastic knife in order to facilitate drying. Accordingly, the sample were air-dried for six days and farther dried in hot air oven at $105^{\circ}c$ for 24hr to remove moisture and maintain constant mass. The dried sample were ground into powder using acid washed commercial mortar and pestle and then sieved to 2mm mesh size.

The sieved samples were finally stored in polyethylene bags and kept in desiccators until the time of digestion.

4.4. Chemicals, Reagents and Instruments

4.4.1. Chemicals and Reagents

All chemicals and reagents used for the study was that of analytical grade. The chemical used for heavy metal analysis was HNO₃, 70% HClO₄, H₂SO₄, HCl, stock standard solution 1000mg/L and 2% HNO₃, selected heavy metals were used for preparation of the working solution (which were immediately prepared before analysis) for calibration and in spiking experiment. The glassware and polyethylene containers which used during analysis was washed with tap water, then soaked in 4MHNO₃ solution and rinsed several times with deionized water.

4.4.2. Apparatus and Equipment

The instruments used for this study was FAAS, with model no.400 NOV for heavy metal determination from compost, water ,vegetable and soil, samples and a multi parameter probe (Hach-Model –HQ30d multi parameter digital meter) was used for the determination of pH and electrical conductivity. The common laboratory apparatus which were used during the study include; different sized beakers, Erlenmeyer flask, funnels, volumetric flasks, block digester, Ceramic mortar and pestle, centrifuge, hydrometer, droppers, glass pipettes, measuring cylinders, plastic knife, vinyl gloves, stirrer, polyethylene bags, digital analytical balance, conical flasks and drying oven, vaccine carrier and ice box for sample transportation from field to laboratory and freezer for water sample.

4.3. Sampling and sample size

Compost, soil, water and vegetable sample were taken from Jimma municipal solid waste composting enterprise center. The total sample size will be eight from soil, two from compost, one from control soil, two from water and eight from different vegetables edible parts which summed up to twenty one samples for the study.

Site	Media		N <u>0</u> of sample	replicate	Total
Abdi Jimma	Soil sample		5	3	15
	Compost sample		1	3	3
	Water sam	ole	1	3	3
	Vegetable	Sample from fruit edible	1	3	3
	sample	Sample from root edible	2	3	6
		Sample leaf edible	2	3	6
Aba Milki	Soil sample Compost		3	3	9
			1	3	3
	Water samp	le	1	3	3
	Vegetable	Sample from fruit	1	3	3
		Sample from root	1	3	3
		Sample from leaf	1	3	3
Total		21			

Table. 1. Sample size and sampling source for heavy metal

4.4. Cleaning of glassware and sampling materials

All sample containers and glassware used in the present study were washed in detergent and soaked in 30% Nitric acid for 2h to leach out adsorbed metal ion and rinsed in tap water followed by deionized water before drying in dust free area (APH, 2012).

4.5. Digestion of Compost, soil, water and vegetable sample for heavy metal analysis

4.5.1 Digestion of the compost sample

Compost sample was air-dried, mechanically ground using a stainless steel roller and sieved to obtain 2 mm fraction. A 20–30 g subsample was drawn from the bulk soil (2 mm fraction) and reground to obtain 200µm fraction using a mortar and pestle. compost samples was digested in mixture of concentrated nitric acid (HNO₃), concentrated hydrochloric acid (HCl) and according to (Al-jaboobi *et al.*, 2014).

4.5.2. Digestion of soil samples for heavy metal analysis

The digestion of soil sample was performed by taking 0.5g dried and homogenized soil samples transferred in to 100mL digest flask in triplicate .In each of these flask ,5mL of deionized water and 30mL of mixture HNO₃(69%)and 37% HCl with volume ratio of 5:1 were added. The sample dissolved in the acid mixture was digested in digestion hood (at 200° c) for 1hr and kept to cool. After adding 2mL of H₂O₂ to the cold digestion mixture, the

final mixture was filtered out through what Man No.42 filter paper to 100mL volumetric flask and finally diluted to the mark with distilled water (Loon, 1985, APHA, 2012, Hizkeal, 2012, kedir 2015). The varying filtrates obtained above were analyzed for the total content of each heavy metal by FAAS in Laboratory Horticoop Ethiopia PLC (Horticulture). The blank reagent was also digested following the same procedure as the taste soil sample.

4.5.3. Digestion of water sample for heavy metal analysis

The water sample from each sampling bottle were mixed thoroughly by shaking.A50mL filtered aliquot of water sample was transferred by pipette into a digestion flask. The metal percentage found in the water was determined by digesting in 3mL concentrated HNO₃ and 3mL H₂O₂ below 80^oc for 1hr until clear solution was observed. The clear solution was diluted to 100mL volumetric flask with distilled water and blank digestion was also carried out in the same way (Aga & Brhane, 2014).The blank solution contained all reagents except sample water. All samples were digested in triplicates and the digests were analyzed for the toxic heavy metals by using FAAS in Laboratory Horticoop Ethiopia (Horticulture) PLC.

4.5.4. Digestion of vegetable samples for heavy metal analysis

A 0.5g of homogenized powdered vegetables sample was placed in borosilicate digestion flask to which 10mL of Acid mixture containing HNO₃-HCl-H₂O₂ (8:1:1, V/V/V) ratio were added .The mixture was heated at 120° c over 3hr on block digester. After digestion was completed, the clear and colorless solution was filtered out into 100mL volumetric flask. Each digestion tube was rinsed with distilled water to collect any possible residue, and added to the volumetric flask and finally made up to volume with distilled water.

All the dilute samples were stored in 100mL plastic bottle (high density polyethylene) until analysis. Each vegetable sample was digested and analyzed in triplicate to confirm precision of the result. The blank solution was prepared by taking a mixture of 8mL HNO₃, 1mL HCl and 1mL H₂O₂ and treating similarly as that of the sample (Street, 2008).Digestion of a reagent blank was performed along with the vegetable samples keeping all digestion parameters the same as that of taste sample. All the digested and diluted samples were stored in a refrigerator at 4° c until analysis (Deribachew *et al.*, 2015).

The heavy metal concentrations were analyzed by FAAS in Laboratory Horticoop Ethiopia PLC (Horticulture).

4.6. Calibration procedure

Calibration curves were prepared to determine the concentration of the heavy metals in the sample solution. Intermediate standard solutions (10mL) of each heavy metal were prepared from stock standard solution containing 1,000mgL⁻¹ of selected heavy metals. Appropriate working standards were prepared for each of the metal solution by serial dilution of the intermediate solution using deionized water. Each and every activity was adjusted according to the instrument operating manual to attain its better sensitivity and working standard was then aspirated one after the other into the flame atomic absorption spectrometer and the absorbance were recorded calibration curves was plotted for each of the trace heavy metals standard using absorbance against concentrations mg/L.

4.7. Physicochemical and trace metal analysis

4.7.1 Physicochemical analysis of water and soil sample

Electric conductivity is a measure of the ability of aqueous solution to carry an electric current that depends on the presence and total concentrations of ions, their mobility, valance and on the temperature (Badawy *et al.*, 2013) .Electric conductivity and pH were determined in soil with ratio of 1:1 and 1:10 soil to water ratio respectively, which was stirred for 30minutes, allowed to stand for another 30minutes and stirred again for 30second, the solution EC and pH were then measured.

4.7.2. Heavy metal analysis

The prepared transparent solution of compost, soil, water and vegetable sample was filtered through what man number 42filter paper and diluted to 100mL with distilled water. The concentrations of As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn in the filtrate were determined by using atomic absorption spectrophotometer in Laboratory Horticoop Ethiopia PLC (Horticulture).

4.8. Data Analysis

Statistical analysis Data of heavy metal concentrations in vegetables were checked for homogeneity of variance and normality. The data of heavy metal concentrations in all analyzed vegetables across the various sample sites was subjected to two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to assess the significance differences in heavy metal concentrations in soil and heavy metal concentration in vegetable. All statistical analyses was computed with SPSS software version 20(Woldetsadik *et al.*, 2017).

4.9. Quality assurance

Appropriate quality assurance procedures and precaution was carried out to ensure reliability of the results. All chemicals used during analysis were that of analytical grade (AG) reagen.All solutions were prepared with double distilled water. Calibration standards for each metal were prepared by making appropriate dilution of stock solution of 1,000 ppm of E. Merck standards (Roy &Gupta, 2016).

4.10. Quality control

Quality control measures were taken to assess contamination and reliability of data. For this Blank samples (zero metal concentration) was analyzed after fourth samples. Concentration was calculated on a dry weight basis. All analysis was replicated three times. The accuracy and precision of metal analysis was checked against standards (Standard Reference Material) for every heavy metal(Chauhan, 2014).

4.10.1 Accuracy

The accuracy of the method was determined by calculating percentage of recovery. It was carried out by adding known quantity of analyte solution in to the sample by the proposed method. Spike recovery analysis of each metal was made to determine the recovery due to matrix effects.

 $R = (Cs-c)/s^* 100$equation 1

Where S=concentration equivalent of analyze added to the sample, Cs=metal content of the spiked sample, C=metal content of non-spiked sample, R=percent recovery

4.11. Method Detection Limit

Blank samples were digested following the same procedures utilized for digesting the vegetable, soil, and compost. Each blank was assayed for its metal contents (Cr, Cd, As, Zn, Cu and Pb) by FAAS. The standard deviations (SD) of the replicate blanks was calculated to determine the method detection limit (MDL) and limit of quantification (LOQ). Method detection limit (MDL) was calculated as three times the standard deviations (MDL = 3SD) and LOQ was calculated as ten times the standard deviation (LOQ = 10SD)(Deribachew, 2015).

4.12. Analytical method validation

Analytical method validation Efficiency of the optimized procedure used for digesting the vegetable samples, soil, and compost samples was checked by spiking the pre-treated vegetable, soil and compost samples with standard solutions of each metal having a known concentration. The spiked vegetables, soil, and compost samples was digested following the same procedure employed in the digestion of the respective samples(Deribachew, 2015).

4.13. Data Analysis

The geochemical results were interpreted using the pollution indices such as Transfer factor (TF) Health Risk index (HRI) and total hazard index (THI).

4.13.1. Soil-Plant transfer Coefficient (%).

Soil-plant transfer coefficient, also known as enrichment factor, enumerates comparative variations in heavy metals' plants. The coefficient depends on both soil and plant properties. The accrual of metals from soil to plant depends on factors like plant species, absorption capacity, soil type, and a metal chemical form. The soil-transfer coefficient was calculated as ratio of a heavy metal in a plant (dry weight) to a total heavy metal concentration in the soil as shown in the following equation:

Tc=Cplant/Csoil*100.....Equation 2 Where TC is transfer coefficient (%), Cplant is heavy metal concentration in vegetable tissue (mg/100 g), and Csoil is metal concentration in soil (mg/100 g dry soil).

4.13.2. Estimation of Daily intake of heavy metal

Daily intake of heavy metals was calculated using the following equation (khan et al., 2013)

$EDI = \frac{Cm^*Cf^*I}{T}$	Dfoodintake BW Equation 3
Where	Cm= Heavy metals concentration in plants (mg/kg),
	Cf= Conversion factor
	D food intake= Daily intake of vegetables and
	BW=Average body weight represent.

The conversion factor 0.085 was used to convert fresh green vegetable weight to dry weight as described by (Rattan *et al.*, 2005; Wang *et al.*, 2013). The average daily vegetable intakes for adults and children were considered to be 0.069 and 0.046 kg/person/day in Ethiopia (Marie *et al.*, 2004; peam & Jeewon, 2015), respectively, while the average adult and children body weights were considered to be 53.057 and 31.04kg (WHO, 2015 and Ratul *et al.*, 2018). Exposure of consumers and related health risks are usually expressed as tolerable daily intake (DIM) as reference value established by FAO/WHO codex alimentarius commission(FAO/WHO,2001). Tables 10 represent the estimation of each heavy metal intake through consumption of studied food stuffs.

4.13.3. Health risk and total hazard quotient

4.13.3.1. Health risk index (HRI)

Health risk assessment of consumers from the intake of metal contaminated vegetables is characterized by using HRI (Xue *et al.*, 2012). The HRI > 1 for any metal in food crops means that the consumer population faces a health risk. But Human are considered to be safe if HRI < 1. The following formula was used for the calculation of HRI (Khan *et al.*, 2013):

HRI = DIM/RfD.....Equation 4

Where, DIM= the average metal intake per day (mg/kg/day) and
RfD= approximation of daily tolerable exposure to which a person is expected to have without any significant risk of harmful effects during a life pan.

The RfD values for As, Zn, Cd, Pb, Cu and Cr are (0.050, 0.30, 0.001, 0.004, 0.04 and 1.5 mg/kg bw/day, respectively (Jan *et al.*, 2010).

4.13.3.2. Hazard Index (HI)

An exposure to more than one pollutant results in additive effects. Thus, hazard index (HI) is a vital index that assesses overall likely impacts that can be posed by exposure to more than one contaminant. When the HI is >1, this suggests that there are significant health effects from consuming pollutants contained in a foodstuff. The HI is calculated as an arithmetic sum of the hazard quotients for each pollutant as shown in the following equation.

HI = (HRIi + HRIii + HRIiii).....Equation 5

4.14. Ethical Consideration

The permission letter from Jimma university post graduate school was given to the concerned bodies. The purpose of the study was explained to the town agriculture offices and kebele leaders and permission was asked from them with written letter. In addition, the farmers were asked for permission during sample taking from the farming site.

4.15. Dissemination of the results

The results of the finding will be disseminated for Jimma Town Administration, Jimma town urban agricultural office and Jimma University for further action and for the benefits of the community.

CHAPTER FIVE: RESULT

The calibration curves were prepared separately for all the metals by running different Concentration of standard solutions. The calibration curves for As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn were checked to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the instrument before running the FAAS, which are linear as shown in appendix.

5.1. Physicochemical and trace metal constituent of water, compost, soil, and vegetables

5.1.1. Physicochemical constituents of water sample

The results of the pH and EC of water samples were presented in table 3 below. The pH value of the water samples from two sampling points (Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki) farm site were 7.4 ± 0.04 and 7.2 ± 0.04 respectively. The electrical conductivities (EC) of water samples for both farming site were $61\pm2.3\mu$ s/cm and $63.9\pm3.053\mu$ s/cm respectively.

5.1.2. Heavy metal concentration in water samples

The concentration of heavy metal in water sample from Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farm sites were presented in table 3. The mean heavy metal concentration of As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu, and Zn in both farm site water sample were 0.1585 ± 0.032 mgL,⁻¹ 0.0903 ± 0.01 mgL⁻¹, 0.055 ± 0.0041 mgL⁻¹, 0.0115 ± 0.002 mgL⁻¹, 0.273 ± 0.0019 mgL⁻¹ and 0.3965 ± 0.0033 mgL⁻¹ respectively. The heavy metal concentrations of water used for cultivation of vegetables has minimal health impact during consumption when compared with FAO and WHO standards.

Site	рН	EC	Heavy metal	Heavy metal concentration in mg/L							
		με/τη	As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn			
Abdi Jimma	7.4+0.04	61 <u>+</u> 2.3	0.107+0.02	0.083+0.03	0.045+0.02	0.043+0.02	0.287+0.03	0.413+0.04			
Aba Milki	7.2+0.04	63.9+3.0	0.21+0.022	0.098+0.03	0.065+0.02	0.18+0.03	0.26+0.02	0.38+0.03			
Mean	7.3	62.45	0.158	0.0903	0.055	0.0115	0.2735	0.3965			
SD	0.14	2.05	0.032	0.0106	0.0041	0.002	0.0019	0.0033			
FAO (1989)	6.5-8.4		0.1	0.01	0.1	5	0.2	2			
WHO(2001)					3	0.01	2	5			

Fable 2: Physi	icochemical	and	trace	metal	constituents	of	water	samples
----------------	-------------	-----	-------	-------	--------------	----	-------	---------

5.2. Physicochemical and trace metal constituent of municipal solid waste compost

The physicochemical and concentrations of heavy metal in municipal solid waste compost were given in table 4 below. The pH value of the MSWC samples from two sampling points (Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki) were 7.9 ± 0.05 , and 7.6 ± 0.04 , respectively. The electrical conductivities (EC) of MSWC for both farming site were 2.36 ± 0.06 sm/cm for Abdi Jimma and 2.01 ± 0.06 sm/cm for Aba Milki farming site.

Fable 3 : Physicochemical and trac	e metal constituents	of MSW co	mpost sample
---	----------------------	-----------	--------------

Sample Site	рН	EC sm/cm	Heavy metal concentration mg/kg							
			As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn		
Abdi Jimma	7.9 <u>+</u> 0.05	2.36 <u>+</u> 0.06	1.60 <u>+</u> 0.22	0.51 <u>+</u> 0.14	0.56 <u>+</u> 0.02	5.68 <u>+</u> 0.32	4.61 <u>+</u> 0.25	75.25 <u>+</u> 3.2		
Aba Milki	7.6 <u>+</u> 0.04	2.01 <u>+</u> 0.06	1.23 <u>+</u> 0.13	0.80 <u>+</u> 0.09	0.483 <u>+</u> 0.03	4.62 <u>+</u> 0.4	5.043 <u>+</u> 0.38	62.97 <u>+</u> 2.9		
Mean	7.75	2.1850	1.415	0.655	0.5215	5.15	4.83	69.11		
SD	.21213	0.2474	0.2616	0.205	0.054	0.749	0.306	8.68		
EU (2002) standard			10	0.7		45	70	200		
Indian standard	5.5-8.5			5	50	100	300			

5.3. Heavy metal concentration in MSW Compost samples

The concentration of heavy metal in MSWC sample from Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farm site were presented in table 4. The mean heavy metal concentration of As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu, and Zn in both farm site were 1.415 ± 0.26 mg/kg, 0.655 ± 0.2 mg/kg 0.52 ± 0.05 mg/kg, 5.15 ± 0.7 mg/kg, 4.83 ± 0.3 mg/kg, 69.11 ± 8.68 mg/kg respectively.

5.4. Physicochemical composition of soil in farming site

The electrical conductivity and pH of the soil on which vegetable grown were measured and the results were shown in table 5 below. In this study, the observed ranges in the electrical conductivity of the soil samples in both farming site were 0.16ms/mc-0.83ms/mc. The pH value of the soils sample for Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming site were in the range 7.1-7.67.

5.5. Heavy metal concentration of soil in farming site

The concentration of heavy metals investigated in soil sample from the farming site was shown in table 4. As can be seen, clear differences were found in the concentrations of the heavy metals between the farming sites. The heavy metals' levels in soil were highest for Zn followed by Pb, Cu, As, Cr, and Cd. The levels of heavy metals in soil samples ranged from 1.08 ± 0.13 to 1.65 ± 0.08 mg/kg, from 0.41 ± 0.07 to 0.54 ± 0.22 mg/kg, from 0.46 ± 0.12 to 0.57 ± 0.07 mg/kg, from 3.02 ± 0.32 to 5.60 ± 0.21 mg/kg, from 3.47 ± 0.19 to 6.07 ± 0.25 mg/kg, and from 36.94 ± 0.34 to 116.37 ± 3.71 mg/kg for As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu, and Zn respectively, with mean concentration of 1.43 mg/kg, 0.485 mg/kg, 0.528 mg/kg, 4.406 mg/kg, 4.355 mg/kg, 68.65 mg/kg and respectively.

Sample	Sampl	рН	EC ms/cm	Concentratio	on of heavy m	etal in mg/kg			
site	e coue			As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn
Abdi Jimma	P1	7.61 <u>+</u> 0.43	0.61 <u>+</u> 0.21	1.65 <u>+</u> 0.08	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.21	0.57 <u>+</u> 0.07	5.60 <u>+</u> 0.21	6.07 <u>+</u> 0.25	116.37 <u>+</u> 3.71
Jinnia	P2	7.50 <u>+</u> 0.39	0.24 <u>+</u> 0.04	1.49 <u>+</u> 0.24	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.22	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.09	4.47 <u>+</u> 0.08	4.20 <u>+</u> 0.07	109.09 <u>+</u> 1.86
	Р3	7.21 <u>+</u> 0.52	0.28 <u>+</u> 0.01	1.61 <u>+</u> 0.052	0.50 <u>+</u> 0.09	0.56 <u>+</u> 0.06	4.96 <u>+</u> 0.067	5.08 <u>+</u> 0.06	66.91 <u>+</u> 2.12
	P4	7.67 <u>+</u> 0.46	0.46 <u>+</u> 0.032	1.46 <u>+</u> 0.033	0.47 <u>+</u> 0.06	0.53 <u>+</u> 0.05	4.64 <u>+</u> 0.25	3.86+0.09	45.52 <u>+</u> 2.71
	P5	7.58 <u>+</u> 0.65	0.16 <u>+</u> 0.07	1.45 <u>+</u> 0.07	0.48 <u>+</u> 0.06	0.52 <u>+</u> 0.03	4.40 <u>+</u> 0.4	4.22 <u>+</u> 0.054	36.94 <u>+</u> 0.34
Aba Milki	P6	7.1 <u>+</u> 0.64	0.47 <u>+</u> 0.05	1.08 <u>+</u> 0.13	0.49 <u>+</u> 0.023	0.53 <u>+</u> 0.071	3.02 <u>+</u> 0.32	3.71 <u>+</u> 0.13	61.58 <u>+</u> 0.69
IVIIINI	P7	7.43 <u>+</u> 0.49	0.83 <u>+</u> 0.24	1.51 <u>+</u> 0.07	0.45 <u>+</u> 0.083	0.46 <u>+</u> 0.12	3.81 <u>+</u> 0.076	4.13 <u>+</u> 0.068	59.32 <u>+</u> 2.3
	P8	7.37 <u>+</u> 0.38	0.54 <u>+</u> 0.15	1.19 <u>+</u> 0.21	0.41 <u>+</u> 0.071	0.51 <u>+</u> 0.20	4.35 <u>+</u> 0.12	3.47 <u>+</u> 0.19	53.49 <u>+</u> 4.51
	Mean	7.43	0.449	1.43000	0.48500	0.52750	4.406	4.355	68.652
	SD	0.199	0.218	0.197195	0.043753	0.0337	0.519949	0.651261	24.1203
Control s	oil	7.16 <u>+</u> 2.4	0.26 <u>+</u> 0.001	1.1 <u>+</u> 0.032	0.39 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.41 <u>+</u> 0.028	3.06 <u>+</u> 0.082	2.31 <u>+</u> 0.06	7.68 <u>+</u> 0.28
FAO,2001	L				0.02-0.5	0.002-0.2	0.3-10	1-12	12-60
EC, 2002				20	0.003	0.15	0.3		

Table 4: Physicochemical and trace metal constituents of soil samples

Element	Mean value	Dutch	FAO	EU	Austria
Pb	4.406	85	0.3-10	300	100
Cd	0.485	0.8	0.02-0.5	3	5
Cr	0.528	100	0.002-0.2	150	100
Cu	4.355	36	1-12	140	100
Zn	68.67	140	12-60	300	300

Table 5: Comparison of Metals in Soil Samples with Different Standards (mg/kg)

Source, Chiroma et al., 2014, Maleki et al., 2014)

5.6. Heavy metal concentration in vegetable

The concentrations of the heavy metals in the edible parts of the 5 species vegetables are summarized in Table 6. In both farming site heavy metals levels revealed significant variations in the five studied vegetables. The levels ranged from 0.421 ± 0.03 to 1.314 ± 0.07 mg/kg for As, from 0.0001 ± 0.0001 to 0.115 ± 0.004 mg/kg for Cd, from 0.0385 ± 0.005 to 0.692 ± 0.024 mg/kg for Cr, from 0.0003 ± 0.0002 to 0.5734 ± 0.04 mg/kg for Pb, from 0.003 ± 0.002 to 12.032 ± 0.46 mg/kg for Cu, from 31.18 ± 3.43 to 188.987 ± 6.13 mg/kg for Zn.

Site	vegetable	As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn
Abdi	tomato	0.709+0.05	0.112 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.422 <u>+</u> 0.08	0.0003 <u>+</u> 0.0002	0.003 <u>+</u> 0.002	31.18 <u>+</u> 3.43
Jim	beetroot	0.5955 <u>+</u> 0.08	0.037 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.402 <u>+</u> 0.06	0.0007 <u>+</u> 0.0002	7.391 <u>+</u> 0.31	55.197 <u>+</u> 2.1
	lettuce	1.083+0.05	0.115 <u>+</u> 0.003	0.692 <u>+</u> 0.24	0.5734 <u>+</u> 0.04	3.258 <u>+</u> 0.12	84.195+4.8
	Onion	0.421 <u>+</u> 0.03	0.0001 <u>+</u> 0.0001	0.0385 <u>+</u> 0.05	0.0007 <u>+</u> 0.0003	0.976 <u>+</u> 0.03	33.42 <u>+</u> 2.21
	spinach	1.314 <u>+</u> 0.07	0.049 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.511 <u>+</u> 0.091	0.474 <u>+</u> 0.02	12.032 <u>+</u> 0.46	188.987 <u>+</u> 6.13
Aba	tomato	0.53 <u>+</u> 0.05	0.24 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.401 <u>+</u> 0.06	0.007 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.086 <u>+</u> 0.05	27.36 <u>+</u> 1.02
Milki	Onion	0.342 <u>+</u> 0.04	0.0021 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.057 <u>+</u> 0.047	0.00815 <u>+</u> 0.002	1.24 <u>+</u> 0.09	41.62 <u>+</u> 0.954
	spinach	0.82 <u>+</u> 0.31	0.041 <u>+</u> 0.002	0.36 <u>+</u> 0.007	0.351 <u>+</u> 0.03	1.68 <u>+</u> 0.23	61.94 <u>+</u> 1.42
Mean		.72681	.07453	.36044	.17691	3.33313	65.48738
SD		.333432	.079635	.218921	.246812	4.250007	53.384413
WHO(2	2007)	0.43	0.20	5	0.3	40	60

Table 6: Heavy metal concentration in vegetables

Samuel et al (2018)

5.7. Soil-Plant Transfer Coefficients

The soil-plant transfer coefficient, also known as enrichment factor, enumerates comparative variations in heavy metals' bioavailability to plants. Soil-plant transfer coefficient is an imperative component of human exposure to heavy metals through food chain as it describes movement of contaminants from soil to plants. The findings in Table 7 indicate that all the five vegetables had high Zn transfer coefficients followed by Cu, Cr, As, Cd, and Pb. Among the vegetables, *spinach and lettuce* had highest transfer coefficients for Zn, Cu, Cr, and As

Site	Vegetable	Heavy met	al transfer fac	ctor			
		As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn
Abdi Jimma	Tomato	0.4297	0.2074	0.74	5.357e ⁻⁵	0.000495	0.268
	Beetroot	0.4	0.0685	0.7445	0.0001566	1.759	0.506
	Lettuce	0.673	0.23	1.236	0.1156	0.6413	1.257
	Onion	0.288	0.000213	0.0726	0.015	0.2528	0.734
	Spinach	0.906	0.102	0.9827	0.108	2.85	5.12
Aba milki	Tomato	0.4907	0.4898	0.58	0.00116	0.218	0.41
	Onion	0.2265	0.00467	0.196	0.00213	0.06	0.58
	Spinach	0.689	0.0512	0.78	0.081	0.61	0.511
Experimental mear	n results	0.82	0.0626	0.413	0.209	0.7989	1.173
Recommended Ma vegetables, WHO, 2	Recommended Max. limit for vegetables. WHO, 2001		0.20	2.30	0.3	40	

Table: 7. Transfer coefficient of heavy metal from soil to vegetable

5.8. Soil results correlation Analysis

Correlation analysis was carried out for inter-metallic and pH parameters association to understand the significance (p < 0.05) of association among the metals and the pH. The Pearson correlation coefficient matrix for trace heavy metals (AS, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn) and pH of the soil samples are presented in Table 9. The analysis of interrelationship between the heavy metals and pH offers remarkable information on the free ions availability. The computed statistical results shows that Cr has moderately significant positive correlation with Cd and Pb(r =0.698,^{*} 0.680^{*}) while Zn, and Pb have weak negative correlation with As. Cd has weak insignificant positive correlation with Pb, Cu, Zn and pH (r =0.486, 0.103, 0.270, 0.147) respectively. Pb, Cu and Zn have weak negative correlations with pH (r = -0.386, - 0.187, -0.128) respectively

Parameter	As	Cd	Cr	Pb	Cu	Zn	PH
As	1						
Cd	.513	1					
Cr	.297	.698*	1				
Pb	227	.486	.680*	1			
Cu	.289	.103	.002	.213	1		
Zn	018	.270	.198	.219	.546	1	
РН	.524	.147	.023	386	187	128	1

Table.8: Correlation coefficient matrix for the trace metals in soil samples

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

5.9. Comparison of heavy metal in soil and vegetables

The concentration of heavy metals in vegetables and their respective soil was show in table 9 below and the concentration of heavy metals were higher in soils than vegetables grown on respective soil except Zn and Cu in spinach and Lettuce vegetables. This indicates that only small portion of soil metal is transferred to Vegetables and the root acts as barrier to the translocation of heavy metals within plant (Mohammed *et al.*, 2011).But there is general weak correlation between concentration of metals in soils and vegetables.

Site	Vegetab le	As _v	Ass	Cd _v	Cds	Cr _v	Crs	Pbv	Pbs	Cuv	Cus	Znv	Zns
Abdi	Tomato	0.709	1.65	0.112	0.54	0.442	0.57	0.0003	5.60	0.003	6.07	31.18	116.37
Jimma	Beetro ot	0.595	1.49	0.037	0.54	0.402	0.54	0.0007	4.47	7.39	4.20	55.19	109.09
	Lettuce	1.083	1.61	0.115	0.56	0.56	0.692	0.5734	4.96	3.25	5.08	84.19	66.99
	Onion	0.421	1.46	0.000 1	0.47	0.038	0.53	0.0007	4.64	0.976	3.86	33.42	45.52
	Spinach	1.314	1.45	0.049	0.48	0.511	0.52	0.474	4.40	12.03 2	4.22	188.98	36.94
Aba	tomato	0.53	1.08	0.24	0.49	0.401	0.53	0.007	6.02	0.086	4.81	27.36	81.58
Milki	Onion	0.342	1.51	0.002 1	0.45	0.057	0.46	0.0082	3.81	1.24	5.36	41.62	79.32
	spinach	0.82	1.19	0.002 1	0.41	0.36	0.51	0.351	4.35	1.68	4.87	61.94	103.49

Table 9: Comparison of heavy metal in vegetable and soil

Which has also been reported (Agbenin *et al.*, 2009) indicates that other sources such as foliar absorption might have contributed to heavy metals load in vegetables. Moreover, the transfer coefficient depends on bioavailability of a metal itself, levels of metal in soil, chemical form of a metal, plant uptake capabilities, and plant species growth rate (Tinker, 1991).

5.10. Distribution of heavy metal in farming site from the four different sources



Distribution of heavy metal in farming site of water, soil, vegetable, and compost was listed in the following fig.

Fig 2 Heavy metal distribution in different source

5.11. Estimation of Daily intake of heavy metal

The EDI of metals was evaluated according to the average concentrations of each metal in each food crops and the respective daily consumption rate (Zhuang *et al.*, 2009).

Exposure of consumers and related health risks are usually expressed as tolerable daily intake (DIM) as reference value established by FAO/WHO codex alimentarius commission(FAO/WHO,2001).Table 10 represent the estimation of each heavy metal intake through consumption of studied food stuffs.

Sampl e site	Vegetab le	Category	As DMI	Cd DMI	Cr DMI	Pb DMI	Cu DMI	Zn DMI
Abdi	Tomato	Adult	7.86E ⁻⁵	1.2E ⁻⁵	4.6E ⁻⁵	3.3E ⁻⁸	3.3E ⁻⁷	0.0034
Jimma		Child	8.9E ⁻⁵	1.4E ⁻⁵	5.3E ⁻⁵	3.7E ⁻⁸	3.7E ⁻⁷	0.0039
	Beetroo	Adult	6.5E ⁻⁵	4.0E ⁻⁶	4.4E ⁻⁵	7.7E ⁻⁸	8.1E ⁻⁴	0.0061
	t	child	7.5E ⁻⁵	4.6E ⁻⁶	5.0E ⁻⁵	8.8E ⁻⁸	9.3E ⁻⁴	0.007
	Lettuce	Adult	1.1E ⁻⁴	1.2E ⁻⁵	7.6E ⁻⁵	6.3E ⁻⁵	3.6E ⁻⁴	0.0093
		Child	1.4E ⁻⁴	1.4E ⁻⁵	8.7E ⁻⁵	7.2E ⁻⁵	4.1E ⁻⁴	0.0106
	Onion	Adult	4.6E ⁻⁵	1.1E ⁻⁸	4.2E ⁻⁶	7.7E ⁻⁸	1.0E ⁻	0.0036
		Child	5.3E ⁻⁵	1.25E- ⁸	4.8E ⁻⁶	8.8E ⁻⁸	1.2E ⁻⁴	0.0042
	Spinach	Adult	1.5E ⁻⁴	5.4E- ⁶	5.6E-⁵	5.2E ⁻⁵	0.0013	0.02
		Child	1.6E ⁻⁴	6.1E ⁻⁶	6.4E ⁻⁵	5.9E ⁻⁵	0.002	0.024
Aba	tomato	Adult	5.8E ⁻⁵	2.6E ⁻⁵	4.6E ⁻⁵	7.7E ⁻⁷	9.5E ⁻⁶	0.003
Milki		Child	6.6E ⁻⁵	3.02E ⁻⁵	5.3E ⁻⁵	8.8E ⁻⁷	1.08E ⁻⁶	0.0034
	onion	Adult	3.7E ⁻⁵	2.3E ⁻⁷	6.3E ⁻⁶	9.0E ⁻⁷	0.000137	0.0046
		child	4.3E ⁻⁵	2.6E ⁻⁷	7.1E ⁻⁶	1.0E ⁻⁶	0.000158	0.00524
	spinach	Adult	9.0E ⁻⁵	4.5E ⁻⁶	3.9E ⁻⁴	3.85E ⁻⁵	0.00019	0.0068
		child	1.0E ⁻⁴	5.1E ⁻⁶	4.5E ⁻⁴	4.4E ⁻⁵	0.00021	0.0078

Table10.Daily intake of heavy metal from vegetables

5.12. Health risk and total hazard quotient

The exposure routes to the target organisms are used to detect the health risk of any pollutant as it is very essential to estimate exposure level. There are many pathways of heavy metals exposure to humans. Ingestion of vegetables contaminated with significant amounts of heavy metal could cause harm to the human health.

The human health risk associated with the average daily dose was determined manually using the mean concentrations of Cd, Cr, Pb, As, Zn and Cu in the various vegetables and their results are presented in Table11. It is evident that HQs were all less than 1 for all vegetables for both adults and children. Hence, there is no need for concern regarding the continuous consumption of the vegetables in terms of potential health risk.

Site	Vegetable	category	As HRI	Cd HRI	Cr HRI	Pb HRI	Cu HRI	Zn HRI	THQ
Abdi limma	Tomato	Adult	0.0016	0.012	3.0E ⁻⁵	8.2E ⁻⁶	8.2E ⁻⁶	0.011	0.024
Jiiiiia		Child	0.0018	0.014	3.5E ⁻⁵	9.2E ⁻⁶	9.2E ⁻⁶	0.013	0.029
	Beetroot	Adult	0.0013	0.004	2.9E ⁻⁵	1.9E ⁻⁵	0.02	0.02	0.045
		Child	0.0015	0.0046	3.3E ⁻⁵	2.2E ⁻⁵	0.023	0.023	0.052
	Lettuce	Adult	0.002	0.012	5.0E ⁻⁵	0.016	0.009	0.031	0.07
		child	0.003	0.014	5.8E ⁻⁵	0.018	0.01	0.035	0.08
	onion	Adult	0.0009	1.1E ⁻⁵	2.8E ⁻⁶	1.9E ⁻⁵	0.003	0.012	0.0159
		Child	0.001	1.2E ⁻⁵	3.2E ⁻⁶	2.2E ⁻⁵	0.003	0.014	0.018
	spinach	Adult	0.003	0.0054	3.7E ⁻⁵	0.013	0.033	0.069	0.12
		Child	0.003	0.0061	4.2E ⁻⁵	0.015	0.05	0.08	0.15
Aba	tomato	Adult	0.00116	0.026	3.0E ⁻⁵	1.9E ⁻⁴	2.3E ⁻⁴	0.01	0.03761
Milki		child	0.00132	0.0302	3.5E ⁻⁵	2.2E ⁻⁴	2.7E ⁻⁵	0.0113	0.043
	onion	Adult	7.4E ⁻⁴	2.3E ⁻⁴	4.2E ⁻⁶	2.2E ⁻⁴	0.0032	0.015	1.9E ⁻²
		child	8.6E ⁻⁴	2.6E ⁻⁴	4.7E ⁻⁶	2.5E ⁻⁴	0.0037	0.02	24E ⁻²
	spinach	Adult	0.0018	0.0045	$2.6E^{-4}$	0.0096	0.0047	0.022	0.042
		Child	0.002	0.0051	3.OE ⁻⁴	0.011	0.0052	0.026	0.049

 Table11: Health risks and Hazard quotient

CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION

6.1 Physicochemical constituents of water sample

The pH and EC of water sample were measured by using digital pH meter and EC was measured by portable probe and the result was recorded and shown in table 2. The mean pH of both farming site were 7.3 which was in line with (FAO, 1985) safe limit range 6.5-8.4 for water used for irrigation .The EC of water sample was measured and result show that 61μ S/cm and 63μ S/cm it was in line with (FAO,1985) guidelines which was 70μ S/cm. According to the present result the pH and EC of the irrigation water cannot affect the metal mobility of heavy metal in the irrigation water since the acidity and alkalinity of the water was in the neutral condition and ions in the water was very low when we see their EC.

6.1.1 Heavy metals in water sample

Mean concentrations of selected heavy metals in irrigation water samples collected from both farming sites are given in Table 2. Across the two sampling sites, except Zn and Cd the metals concentrations are in line with the recommended maximum limit for irrigation water set by FAO (Ayers and Westcot, 1985).

The mean concentrations of As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn were 0.158 ± 0.072 mg/L, 0.09 ± 0.0106 mg/L, 0.055 ± 0.0141 mg/L, 0.0115 ± 0.097 mg/L, 0.2735 ± 0.019 mg/L, 0.3965 ± 0.0233 mg/Lrespectively. As compared to the concentrations reported in the present study, (Aschale *et al.*, 2015) reported lower mean ranges of Cd($0.04-0.06\mu$ g L-1), Cu ($3.3-6.6\mu$ gL-1), Pb($1.4-5.1 \mu$ g L-1), Cr ($2.4-255 \mu$ g L-1) and Zn ($10.9-22.5 \mu$ g L-1). But the mean cadmium concentration in the water sample from this study 0.09mgL⁻¹ was in line with 0.06mg/L(Direbachew *et al.*, 2015) and greater than (WHO and FAO/2011) which recommended the maximum permissible level 0.01mg/L but less than 0.10mg/L which reported by (khan *et al.*, 2013).

The mean lead concentration in the water sample from the present study 0.0115mg/L was greater than study conducted by (Aschale,2015) which reported 1.6ug/l, but much less than the (WHO and FAO/2011) guidelines for safe limit which was 5mg/L in water used for irrigation. The heavy metal concentrations of water used for cultivation of vegetables has minimal health impact during consumption when compared with FAO and WHO standards.

34

6.2. pH, Electric Conductivity and Heavy Metals Concentrations in Municipal Solid Waste compost in both farming site.

The mean pH values of the municipal solid waste compost were 7.75 which are lower than the finding of similar study at Harar city on MSWC (8.05) by (Alemayehu, 2017). pH values of Municipal solid wastes compost (MSWC) were relatively alkaline (7.8 and 7.6) for Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming sites, respectively (Table 4). pH range of 6.5 to 8 is acceptable for composting, and most common feed stocks fall within this range (TDMSW, 2013). The recorded pH for both sites were close to the similar finding by (Karim *et al.*, 2014) at Matuail and Khulna MSW compost 7.76 and 7.95 respectively, in Bangladesh. MSWC pH increase to some extends. This increase in pH is due to the mineralization of C and subsequent production of OH– ions by ligand exchange as well as introduction of basic Cations, such as K+, Ca++ and Mg++. (Brady and Weil, 1995) had reported that micronutrients and metal Cations are most soluble and available for plant uptake under acidic conditions so MSWC would help in mitigating the heavy metals availability.

Electrical conductivity: EC of the municipal solid wastes compost were 2.36 and 2.01ms/cm at Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming sites, respectively as shown in (Table 3). The recorded EC for both sites were higher than (Manju *et al.*, 2013) 0.58-0.83 μ S/cm finding in India. (Brady and Weil 1995), were reported EC levels ranges from 0.369 - 0.749 mS/cm in MSWC which is below the present study. In the present study the pH and EC values are within the limits to be used as green compost.

6.2.1. Heavy metals concentrations in municipal solid waste compost

The concentrations of most heavy metals (As, Cr, Zn, and Pb) in municipal solid waste compost at Abdi Jimma farming site were relatively greater than at Aba Milki farming site (Table 3).More accumulation of electronic wastes was observed during compost samples collection at Abdi Jimma than Aba milki farming site. Therefore, higher concentration of these metals at Abdi Jimma might be due to more electronic waste.

The recorded Cd concentration was close to the similar finding by (Mamtaz and Chowdhury2006) and (Adjia *et al.*, 2008) to be 0.8 mg/kg and 0.48 mg/kg in municipal solid waste compost respectively. Concentration of Zn (69.11 mg/kg), Cu (4.83 mg/kg), and Cr

(0.5215 mg/kg) were greater than the finding of similar study in Harari city (Alemayehu 2017), but concentration of Cd and Pb were low. The difference could be due to the composition and types of waste. (Lawan *et al.*,2012) reported that concentration of heavy metals in waste vary from time to time and site to site due to variables such as waste composition, moisture content and types of wastes. At both farming sites concentration of zinc Higher than others heavy metals. High level of Zinc could be attributed to zinc containing organic waste, zinc batteries and fluorescent lamps increase the concentration of Zink in compost. (Ayari *et al.*, 2010) also reported higher zinc concentration than other heavy metal concentrations in MSWC.

Application of these municipal solid wastes as organic fertilizer to soils may be major potential source of metal pollution into farm lands. At both farming site these compost used as organic fertilizers. Therefore, these heavy metals can easily enter in to the food chain through soil to plant system. (Alexander, 2014) revealed that soil to plant transfer is a major pathway of human exposure to toxic metals via the food chain.

The transfer of metals from the compost into the soil and subsequently into the vegetables could be expected. Therefore, excessive use of these municipal solid wastes as organic fertilizer may be the pathway for transferring heavy metals to human beings and cause serious health problems. Generally, the concentrations of heavy metals recorded in municipal solid wastes compost were below the WHO and EU limits but continuous use of this compost as organic fertilizer may be hazardous for plants and human being. The use of municipal solid waste compost over long period increases the heavy metal contents of soils above the permissible limit. Ultimately, increasing the heavy metal content in soil also increases the uptake of heavy metals by plants depending upon the soil type, plant growth stages and plant species (Afzal *et al.*, 2011).

6.3. PH, Electrical conductivity and Heavy metals Concentrations in Soil at Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming Sites.

In this study, conductivity of the soil samples collected from Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farmlands were determined at 25^oc.Electrical conductivity and pH were determined in soil with ratio of 1:10 soil water ratio and the result revealed that electrical conductivity in the collected soil samples were in the range 0.16ms/cm-0.83ms/cm(table 4)in both farm site.

The EC of the soil in the present study was less than the FAO/1985 recommended safe limit value for soil. The pH value of the soils ranged were 7.1-7.67 (table 4). According to (Hizkeal, 2012) soil with pH range of 6.6-7.4 are neutral. Based on this classification, soil sample collected from vegetable growing areas in both farmlands with the value of the range 7.1 to 7.67 were neutral. The recorded pH of soil from municipal solid waste compost amendment site in (Aba Milki and Abdi Jimma) farm sites are relatively less than the mean values of similar studies by Hunachew and Sandip, (2011) in Addis Ababa and in Cameroon by Adjia *et al.*, 2008). pH is one of the factors which influence the bioavailability and the transport of heavy metal in the soil and heavy metal mobility decreases with increasing soil pH due to precipitation of hydroxides, carbonates or formation of insoluble organic complexes (Uduma, 2013).

The amount of heavy metals mobilized in soil is function of pH, properties of metals, redox conditions, soil chemistry, organic matter content, clay content, cation exchange capacity and other soil properties (Uduma, 2013). According the current result, the pH of the soil sample has no effect in the mobilization of heavy metal from one point to another, the metal in the soil will maintained to its original place, and it can be up take by respective vegetable grown on it. The result of pH was in line the WHO guidelines which was 6.5-8.4 for soil.

6.3.1. Heavy metals concentration in soil.

The distribution of heavy metals in the cultivated soils is shown in Table 4. The sequence of heavy metal total concentrations in soils was Zn > Pb>Cu > As>Cr>Cd. The heavy metal total concentrations of the cultivated soils were significantly higher on the farming sites amended with MSWC compared to the control soil with no waste. Which show presence of metal containing wastes contributing enormously to heavy metal pollution. This is in agreement with the results obtained from similar study by (Amusan *et al.*, 2005).(Ideriah *et al.*, 2006) also reported higher levels of some heavy metals in soils around designated municipal solid waste dump site compared to the control site.

As shown in Table 4, the recorded results of accumulated heavy metals in soil showed that zinc, Copper, Lead has the higher value at Abdi Jimma farming site than Aba Milki relative to other heavy metals. The possible sources of these heavy metals could be road runoff and atmospheric deposition (Tasrina *et al.*, 2015). This is due to the fact that the Abdi Jimma

farm sites are about 30m from the Jimma to Bonga main road, which is round the clock a busy road with heavy traffic.

This indicates that Heavy metal pollutants such as copper (Nyangababo and Ichikuni, 1986) lead and zinc (Alloway and Davies, 1993) from additives used in gasoline and lubricating oils are emitted from heavy traffic road and deposited on road side soil and vegetation.

Cadmium (Cd): Cd was also detected in soil at both farming sites as indicated (Table 4). The mean recorded results were 0.485 mg/kg. It was more concentrated in farming sites soil than the control sites soil. Recorded results for Cd were also greater than WHO standard (0.02 - 0.5 mg/kg) for Abdi Jimma farm site (0.506) but Aba Milki farm site in line with WHO standard. (Tamiru, 2006) reported that the Cd content of Burayu MSW dumping area was (0.05 mg/kg), which is lower than the Cd content in soil at present study. But lower than similar study at Addis Ababa MSW dumping area site soil was $2.41\pm2.4 \text{mg/kg}$ (Hunachew and Sandip, 2011). This might be due to differences in generated and composition of MSW compost amended to soil.

Chromium: The mean concentration of Cr in soil at farm site was 0.528mg/kg. Its concentration was greater than the results reported by (Alemayehu, 2017) for similar study at Harar city. Mean Cr concentrations in soil were higher than critical permissible level which is0.002-0.2mg/kg for soil recommended for agriculture. Chromium concentrations in soil at both sites were also lower compared to the result (269 mg/kg) reported by (Tamiru, 2006) in Addis Ababa. This might be due to site differences and repeated application of MSW compost amended to soil.

Lead: maximum contamination levels for lead in soil are 0.3-10, 85, 100 and 300 mg/kg for WHO, Dutch, Austria and EU standards, respectively (table 5). Its concentrations were below the standard limits except the WHO limits. Lead concentrations in soil at both sites were also lower than the report of (Hunachew and Sandip, 2011) for MSW dumping area in Addis Ababa. Concentrations of lead in soil from control area were lower than in soils from MSWC amendment farming site areas. This indicates long term application of MSWC increase hazardous heavy metal concentration at farming site compared to control area. According to (Moturi *et al.*, 2004), Pb ion is less mobile in soil compared with other heavy metal ions.

Copper: The mean Concentrations of Cu in soil was 4.84mg/kg. The recorded results show that concentrations of Cu in soil at farming sites were greater than the control sites (2.31mg/kg). This due to long term application of MSWC contributed to increased concentration of Cu in soils at the farming sites. The investigation found higher concentration of Cu compared to that in the soil of Harar (2.18) mg kg-1 as reported by (Alemayehu, 2017). The study obtained lower concentration of Cu compared to that in the soil of Gazipur (55-65) mg kg-1 as reported by Habib *et al.* (2009). Though higher than mean values reported in soils of Tunisia (73.56 mg/kg) as reported by (Ayari *et al.*, 2010). This is due to composition and repeated application of municipal solid waste compost. In general, Cu concentrations in the investigated soil were unpolluted since it is below the maximum acceptable limit of 70-80 mg/kg set by Federal Environmental Protection Agency, (FEPA, 1997).

Zinc: The concentration of zinc in soils was in the range of 36.94-116.37mg/kg which was the highest relative to the concentration of other Five heavy metals analyzed (Table 4).Lower level of Zn were obtained in the investigated soil when compared to mean values obtained by (Chukwuocha *et al.*, 2015) reported 268.67 mg/kg of Zn in top soils of Owerri, Imo state, Nigeria. Concentrations in soil at both sites were also lower than the report of(Ayari *et al.*, 2010) (151.4mg/kg) in Tunisia. But its concentration was greater than the results reported by (Alemayehu, 2017) for similar study at Harar city. concentrations in soil at both sites were higher than the accepted standards (12-60) mg/kg suggested by (Odukoya *et al.*, 2000).The abundance of zinc in the soil is due to high concentration level of Zink in MSW compost, and atmospheric deposition from busy road with heavy traffic.

6.4 Heavy Metals concentration in Plant

Concentrations of heavy metals in edible parts of the analyzed vegetables are summarized in Table 6.Accumulation of metals in edible vegetables poses a great threat to human health especially to local communities that collect vegetables which are growing on contaminated soil by municipal solid waste compost and waste water. For this reason the International and national regulations on food quality have lowered the maximum permissible levels of toxic metals in food items due to an increased awareness of the risk, these metals pose to food chain contamination(Radwan MA, 2006).

The concentrations of heavy metals in vegetables differ from one sampling location to the other and vary from one species of vegetable to the other. This may be attributed to differential uptake capacity of vegetables for different heavy metals through roots and their further translocation within the plant parts (Zurera *et al.*, 1989; Vousta *et al.*, 1996). It can also be due to soil characteristics such as acidity and organic matter contents and ability of the root type of the plants to penetrate where the heavy metals are found (Okoronkwo*et al.*, 2006). Among all heavy metals analyzed, the concentration of Zn (188.987 mg/kg dw) detected in *spinach* was the highest and that of Cd (0.0001mg/kg dw) detected in *onion* was the lowest in all vegetables analyzed. Similar results were reported by (Radwan and Salama, 2006and Charles Kihampa *et al.*, 2011) in Tanzania in which highest concentration of Zn and lowest concentration of Cd were detected in vegetables.

Arsenic. The concentration of As obtained was from 0.342- 1.314mg/kg. All of the vegetables, concentration of As was higher than the permissible level (0.1mg/kg). Its highest and lowest concentrations were recorded in spinach (1.314mg/kg) and onion (0.342mg/kg) respectively from the farming sites. Similar result was recorded by (Okorosaye-Orubite *et al.*, 2017) in Nigeria. (Bhupendra *et al.*, 2014), reported concentration of As in some common vegetables in Yamuna flood plains, New Delhi. The range of As concentration according to their work varied from 0.6 to 2.52mg/kg which were well above present study.

Concentration of Arsenic is high in leaf vegetable than root and fruit in this study. Similar study in leafy vegetables grown in Addis Ababa and their toxicological implications 'reported (ATSDR, 2004) that the content of Arsenic was found to be (1.04) Lettuce and Swiss chard (1.21) those collected from Kera. This reported result by those authors is in line with present study. This is due to foliar absorption of As from atmosphere. As is also largely present in the atmosphere and finds its way into the soil during the rainy season principally in form of As^2S^{-2} as mineral salts. Arsenic is a general protoplasmic poison and it affects small systems in the body. It is a cumulative poison. The concentration of arsenic exceeding the maximum permissible limit (0.03mg/Kg) in food stuff cause short term (nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, weakness, loss of appetite, cough and headache) and long term (cardiovascular disease, diabetes and vascular diseases) health effects. Arsenic poisoning

also affects bone marrow and cellular elements of blood. Arsenicals are known to be carcinogenic to lungs. They may also lead to skin cancer through the initial skin lesions.

Cadmium. Mean Cd concentrations were the list in vegetables harvested from Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farming sites, than the other heavy metal with levels ranging from 0.0001mg/kg (onion) to 0.24mg/kg (tomato) dry weight. The recorded result was below the RML standard. Higher Cd levels which surpassed the recommended maximum limit were reported by Okorosaye-Orubite *et al.*, (2017) in Nigeria. Conversely, lower levels of Cd in vegetables at various vegetable farming sites of Addis Ababa were reported by (Aschale *et al.*, 2015) and (Mekonnen *et al.*, 2015). Cadmium levels exceeding the RMLs were reported by (Gupta *et al.*, 2010).Cd uptake by plants is partly limited by presence of calcium, phosphorus and chelating compounds in the soil (Wieczorek *et al.*, 2004).

Chromium. Mean Cr concentrations among vegetable were in the order of Lettuce (0.692 mg/kg)>spinach (0.551 mg/kg)>tomato (0.422 mg/kg)>beetroot (0.402 mg/kg)>Onion (0.0385 mg/kg). The mean levels of Cr in vegetables in the present study were significantly lower than FAO/WHO limit values. It was observed that lower concentrations of Cr were recorded in the present study, when compared with other studies.(Gupta *et al.*, 2008) recorded mean concentration of (34.83-96.30 mg kg-1) in West Bengal, India. (Sharma *et al.*, 2007) observed mean Cr level of (5.37-27.83 mg kg-1) in Varanasi, India, while (Charlse *et al.*, 2011) recorded values ranging from 1.15-29.29 mg/kg in vegetables grown in the application MSWC as organic fertilizer. Which were all higher than the result of the present study but chromium content in vegetables was below values reported in (Francis Chizoruo, 2017) in Nijeria (0.08 mg/kg). The low concentration of Cr in the farm site could be due to low concentration Cr in soil and leaching capabilities of the metal to deeper part of the soil (Banks *et al.*, 2006).

Lead. The highest Pb concentration in vegetables obtained from farm site was recorded in leaf vegetables (lettuce 0.5734) and the least in root vegetables (beetroot <0.0007). In this study, the concentrations of Pb are quite generally higher than the permissible levels by WHO 0.3 mg/kg in leaf vegetable but low in root and fruit vegetable. Lead content in vegetables was below values reported in Titagarh, West Bengal, (21.59-57.63 mg/kg) and also lower than the mean concentration of Pb (409 mg/kg) reported in vegetables from

Turkey by (Turkdogan *et al.*,2002) but comparable with Pb level reported (0.18-7.75 mg/kg) in China (Liu *et al.*, 2005). In leafy vegetables the accumulation of airborne lead largely exceeds the soil borne part taken up via roots.

This confirms the Pb levels of vegetables analyzed previously in Addis Ababa's urban vegetable farming sites (Weldegebriel *et al.*, 2012) and with results reported from other African cities (Muchuweti *et al.*, 2006; Odai *et al.*, 2008; Lente *et al.*, 2012). The high levels of lead in some plants may probably be attributed to pollutants due to pollution from the main road traffic (Akinola and Njoku *et al.*, 2007). Leafy vegetables from open field have been documented to possess higher concentrations of Lead (Pb) than vegetables grown in green houses due to anthropogenic sources of contamination (Song *et al.*, 2009). According to (Hamilton *et al.*, 2005), plant roots can absorb Pb but may not translocate it to shoots. In fact, high soil pH, clay and organic matter content are not supporting Pb uptake via roots. Pb is highly toxic heavy element and its intake via vegetable consumption can cause both acute and chronic poisoning. It has adverse effect on liver, kidney, vascular and immune system (Satter *et al.*, 2016).

Copper. Concentrations of Cu in vegetables across the 5 vegetable farming sites were varied and all are very low when compared to WHO (40mg/kg) permissible level for food. At Abdi Jimma, ranged from 0.003 (Tomato) to 12.032mg/kg (Spinach), in Aba Milki farming site they ranged from 0.086mg/kg (tomato) to 1.68mg/kg (spinach). However, the concentration of Cu recorded in the present study is higher than the mean concentration of Cu (2.00 \pm 1.174) mg/kg observed by (Aktaruzzaman *et al.*, 2013).

Lower concentrations of Cu in various vegetables were also reported in selected vegetable farming sites in Addis Ababa and its outskirts (Aschale *et al.*, 2015; Mekonnen *et al.*, 2015; Alam *et al.*, 2003) reported mean Cu concentrations of 15.5mg kg-1 and 8.51 mg kg-1in leafy and non-leafy vegetables respectively from Samata village, Jessor, which is higher than the present findings.

In this study higher Cu concentration recorded in leaf vegetable (12.032mg/kg).Similarly higher mean concentration of Cu (22.19-76.50) mg kg-1 was reported in leafy vegetable species from Turkey (Demirezen and Aksoy, 2006). According to this study the

42

concentration of Zn, Cu, As, and Pb where highest in the leafy vegetables than root this could be attributed to the fact that the sampling site is very near to the main asphalt road from Jimma to Bonga towns. In Abdi Jimma, farm site, this entertains many vehicle, traffics throughout 24 hours all the seasons and assists the more deposition of those elements from car exhausts in to the nearby farmlands.

Zinc. The level of Zn in the vegetables from sampled farms ranged from 27.36 mg/kg to 188.987mg/kg with the highest recorded in *spinach* and the least in *tomato* from Abdi Jimma and Aba Milki farm site respectively. The mean concentrations of zinc in the analyzed vegetable were higher than the WHO guideline values. Higher Zn levels which surpassed the recommended maximum limit were reported by (Alexander Uriah *et al.*, 2014) (424.77mg/kg) in Nigeria. Conversely, lower levels of Zn in vegetables at various vegetable farming sites of Nigeria were reported by (Okorosaye-Orubite *et al.*, 2017).

The abundance of zinc in the vegetable is due to high concentration level of Zink in compost, soil and water increasing the concentration level of Zink in vegetable and the other is location of the farm, which is situated along the hectic road traffic. Generally, Cu and Zn, which are important nutrients for humans, are considered a much lower health risk to humans than Pb, Cd, and As (Tariq *et al.*, 2006). Poor health can be caused by a lack of these required elements (Voutsa *et al.*, 1996) but excessive ingestion can also have adverse effects on human health (Rahman *et al.*, 2014)

6.5 Transfer of heavy metals from soils to vegetables

In order to assess the transfer of heavy metals from soil to vegetable, the transfer factor (TF) values of six heavy metals were calculated (Table 7). It defined as ratio of heavy metal concentration in vegetable (dry weight) to that in soil (dry weight) (Cui *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2005). The mean values of TF for As, Cd, Cr, Pb, Cu and Zn were 0.539, 0.121, 0.669, 0.0478, 0.755 and 1.167 respectively. The TF values were greatly lower than the results reported by (Liu *et al.*, 2005; Alexander *et al.*, 2014) and which may be related to the low plant concentrations in this study. The mean TF values of six heavy metals showed the trend as Zn>Cu>Cr>As>Cd>Pb. Zn had the highest TF and Pb had the lowest in this study.(Naser *et al.*, 2011) reported similar result where they observed that Zn had the highest transfer

factor among other metals. From the findings, the soil-plant transfer coefficients are directly related to the observed levels of heavy metals.

The highest coefficient value for Cu and Zn might be due to increased contamination through municipal solid waste compost application, foliar transfer after deposition of atmospheric particles on the leaf surfaces, higher mobility of these heavy metals with a natural occurrence in soil (Alam *et al.*, 2003) and the lower retention of them in the soil than other cations (Zurera *et al.*, 1987). The highest and lowest TF for were found in leaf spinach and tomato, respectively. The highest and lowest TF for Cu was observed in spinach and tomato, respectively. Lettuce had highest TF for Cr and spinach for Zn.

These findings indicate that Zn has higher transferability, while *spinach* is having high absorbing capability followed by *Lettuce*. Moreover, the transfer coefficient depends on bioavailability of a metal itself, levels of metal in soil, chemical form of a metal, plant uptake capabilities, and plant species growth rate (Tinker, 1981). As a whole, tomato as a kind of fruit vegetable had relatively lower TF for Cd, Pb, Zn and Cu, compared to the leafy vegetables. Therefore, tomato was recommended to cultivate considering the food safety in this area. In the general weak correlation between concentration of metals in soils and vegetables which has also been reported. (Agbenin *et al.*, 2009) indicates that other sources such as foliar absorption might have contributed to heavy metals load in vegetables.

6.6. Daily intake of metals (DIM)

The values estimated daily intake of metals by human being from the consumption of the vegetables grown using MSWC are presented in Table 10.The daily intake of metals (DIM) were calculated to averagely estimate the daily metal loading in to the body system of specified body weight of consumer (Ratul *et al.*, 2018).DIM may be the realistic estimate for the average intake of metals from vegetable. For each individual metal measured in the present study were substantially lower than the values reported for other countries (Alexander Uriah *et al.*, 2014) in Nigeria. Trend of the metal in take from all vegetables were Zn>Cu>As>Cr>Hg>Pb>Cd. The provisional tolerable daily intakes (PTDIs) for Cd, Cr, Cu, Pb and Zn are 0.06mg, 0.2mg, 3mg, 0.214mg and 60mg, respectively (National Research Council, 1989). For each individual metal measured in the present study, none of the EDIs exceeded its corresponding PTDIs, nor did approach the doses. The DIM values suggested

that the consumption of vegetables grown in agricultural soil with municipal solid waste compost were nearly free of risks. This low DIM may be due to low concentration of heavy metals and low consumption pattern of vegetable in the area.

6.7. Health risk index (HRI)

To assess the human health risk of heavy metals, it necessary to calculate the level of human exposure to that metal by tracing the route of exposure of pollutant to human body. There are many exposure routes for heavy metals that depend up on a contaminated media of soil and vegetables on the recipients. Receptor population use the vegetable enriched with higher concentration of heavy metals which enters the human body leading to health risks (khan *et al.*, 2013). The estimated HRI for both adults and children for consumption of vegetables for all measured heavy metal were given in table 11. Trend of health risk of heavy metals for the consumption of vegetables are Zn>As>Cu>Cd>Pb>Cr. The present study was much lower than the study conducted by Alexander Uriah *et al.*, (2014) in Nigeria.

The result revealed that HRI for all measured heavy metals for all studied vegetables are lower than 1 indicating nearly free of risks for the consumer. This may be due to low vegetable consumption pattern in the area and low concentration of heavy metal in vegetable, but the health risk may raise in long term consumption of the heavy metals contaminated vegetables by local community through accumulation in the body and it needs great attention for the future.

6.8. Total hazard quotient (THQ)

The total metal THQ (sum of individual metal THQ for the analyzed vegetables) is shown in table 11. The results in table 11 show that the highest THQ was found in spinach (0.12) followed by Lettuce (0.08)>Beetroot (0.05)>Tomato (0.029)>Onion(0.018). When the THQ surpasses unity, this tells us that eating of the vegetable can cause health effects. In the studied sites, the consumption of all analyzed vegetables resulted in THQ values of less than 1, it is clear that heavy metals pose nearly free of risk to local inhabitants through the consumption of vegetables grown on MSWC amendment soil vegetable farming sites.

However, it is worth considering the effects that may result from the interaction of the metals. Additionally, for special populations, such as those with a weak constitution, those

that were sensitive, and women that were pregnant, the potential health risks of heavy metal accumulation through vegetable consumption were likely to be higher than for the normal population. However, vegetable consumption was just one part of food consumption. In addition to vegetable consumption, rice (Zheng *et al.*, 2007), meat (Bortey-Sam *et al.*, 2015), fish (Wang *et al.*, 2005) and tobacco (Dong *et al.*, 2015) consumption also led to ingestion of large amounts of heavy metals. For the residents of mining area, food consumption, inhalation of soil particles, drinking water, and dermal contact were the important pathways for human exposure to toxic metals (Zhu *et al.*, 2011).

CHAPTER SEVEN: CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

7.1. Conclusion

What has emerged from this study is the revelation that the application of municipal solid wastes as organic fertilizer in vegetable gardens is a major source of metal pollution into farmlands. Consequently vegetable grown on such contaminated farmland with high heavy metals concentrations will absorb such metals depending on the metal uptake capabilities and storage. The mean concentration of As, and Zn in vegetable was found higher than the safe limits by different organizations. The transfer factor (TF) of different plant species vary from one type to another. Soil to plant transfer is a major pathway of human exposure to toxic metals via the food chain.

The transfer of metals from the compost into the soil and subsequently into the vegetables has been established.TF values for As, Cd, Pb and Cr for various vegetables were not significantly high since it was less than 1, but Zn and Cu in spinach vegetable greater than 1.DIM values suggested that the consumption of vegetable grown in agricultural soil with the amendment of municipal solid waste compost is nearly free of risks because it is below the daily tolerable intake of metal. Trends of health risk of heavy metals for the consumption of vegetables were Zn>As>Cu>Cd>Pb>Cr. The result revealed that HRI for both measured heavy metals were lower than 1 indicating safe for consumers. But in the long term application of municipal solid waste compost on agricultural farm gradually increase the concentration in the environment and along the food chain and thus can cause serious health problems. There for, significant attention should be paid to prevent excessive buildup of heavy metal in the food chain by regular monitoring in municipal solid waste compost, agricultural soil and vegetables. Natural compost preparation from waste materials requires detail characterization and selecting waste items with low concentration of heavy metals. These results may serve as a base line data for determination of heavy metal in compost, soil and vegetable in the study area.

7.2. Recommendation

The composition of MSWC and the soils from which vegetable crops are grown should be monitored and regulated to reduce its adverse effects on human health.

Based on the findings of this study; it is recommended that further research work should be carried out to study the levels of heavy metals in vegetables in and around Jimma in order to maintain and or improve measures to reduce their levels in vegetables and ultimately prevent these avoidable health problems.

For the future continuous composting of MSW can create serious environmental and health problems. So, the Jimma municipal should design other waste management methods like separates waste based on source and type then recycling, and treatment system modern sanitary landfill site should be designed.

The potential health risks of heavy metals through other exposure pathways should be the subject of future study.

8. REFERANCE

- Akbar Jan, F., Ishaq, M., Khan, S., Ihsanullah, I., Ahmad, I., & Shakirullah, M. (2010). A comperative study of human health risks via concumption of food crops grown on wastewater irrigated soil (Peshawar) and relatively clean water irrigated soil (lower Dir). *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 179, 612–621.
- ALAM, M. G., SNOW, E. T. & TANAKA, A. (2003). Arsenic and heavy metal contamination of vegetables grown in samta village, Bangladesh. Science Total Environment, 308(1-3), 83–96.
- Alemayehu. (2017). environmentally hazardous heavy metals at municipal solid waste dumping sites in harar city, harari regional state, ethiopia
- Alemayehu., T. (2006). Heavy Metal Concentration, in the Urban Environment of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, Preliminary investigation on the use of municipal Soil and Sediment Contamination, Ethiopia. World Applied Sciences Journal, 15(6), 591–602.
- Ali, N., Oniye, S. J., Balarabe, M. L. and Auta, J. (2005). Concentration of Fe, Cu, Cr, Zn, and Pb in Makera Drain, Kaduna, Nigeria. *ChemClassJournal*, 2, 69 73.
- Al-jaboobi, M., Tijane, M., El-ariqi, S., Housni, A. El, Zouahri, A., & Bouksaim, M. (2014). (2014). Assessment of the impact of wastewater use on soil properties, 5(3), . 5(3), 747–752.

Alloway, B.J., Jackson, A. P. (1991). The behaviour of heavy metals in sewage sludgeamended soil., 100, . http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(91)90377-Q. Sci. Total Environ., (100), 151–176

Amusan, A.A., Ige, D.V. and Olawale, R. (2005). Characteristics of soils and crops' uptake of metals in municipal waste dump sites in Nigeri. *Journal of Human Ecology*, *17*(3), 167–171.

Aschale M, Sileshi Y, Kelly-Quinn M, H. D. (2015). Assessment of Potentially Toxic Elements in Vegetables Grown along Akaki River in Addis Ababa and Potential Health Implications. *Food Sci Q Manage.*, 40, 42–52. A.Singh, R. K. Sharma, M. Agrawal, and F. M. M. (2010). "Risk assessment of heavymetal toxicity through contaminated vegetables from waste water irrigated area of Varanasi, India," 2010. *Tropical Ecology*, 51, (2,), 375–387,.

ATSDR. (2000). Toxicological Profile for Arsenic. (2000). US Department of Health and Human.

- Arora, M., Kiran, B., Rani, S., Rani, A., Kaur, B. and Mittal, N. (2008). Heavy metal accumulation in vegetables irrigated with water from different sources.:. Food Chemistry 111, 811-815.
- Ayari, F.; Hamdi, H.; Jedidi, N.; Gharbi, N.; Kossai, R., . (2010). Heavy metal distribution in soil and plant in municipal solid waste compost amended plots. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Tech*, 7(3), 465–472.
- Ayers, R., & Westcot, D. (1985). FAO Corporate Document Repository; Water quality for agriculture. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/003/t0234e/t0234e06.htm

Balba, A., G. S. and E. E.-K. (1991). Effect of lead increments on the yield and lead content of tomato plants. *Journal of Water Air Soil Pollutant*, 57–58, : 93-99.

- Banerjee, H. B. and S. (2011). Assessment of the Pollution Status of the Solid Waste Disposal Site of Addis Ababa City with Some Selected Trace Elements, Ethiopia. World Applied Sciences of Journal, 14(7), 1048–1057.
- Bhuiyan, SuruviM.A.H, DampareN.I, IslamS.B, QuraishiM.A, Ganyaglo S. & Suzuki, S. (2011).
 Investigation of the possible sources of heavy metal contamination lagoon and canal water in the tannery industrial area in Dhaka. Bangladesh.: *Environ.Monit. Assess*, 175, 633–649.
- Charles K., William J.S. Mwegoha, R. S. S. (2011). Heavy metals concentrations in vegetables grown in the vicinity of the closed dumpsite. *International Journal Of Environmental Sciences*, 2(2), 889–895.

Chiroma T. M., E. R. O. and H. F. K. (n.d.). Comparative Assessment Of Heavy Metal

Levels In Soil, Vegetables And Urban Grey Waste Water Used For Irrigation In Yola And Kano. *International Refereed Journal of Engineering and Science (IRJES)*, 3(2), .01-09 p13.

- Chukwuocha-AC Ngozi. B, Onwuso George. Iand Ajoku, U. G. (2015). Heavy Metals Concentration of Dumpsites and Their Influence on the Soil Physical Properties in Three Major Cities of South Eastern Nigeria. *Journal of Environment and Earth Science*, Pp. 181-196.
- Cobb GP, Sands K, Waters M, Wixson BG, D.-K. E. (2000). (2000). Accumulation of Heavy Metals by Vegetables Grown in Mine Wastes. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 19(3), 600-607.
- Communities, E. (Council of the E. (1986). Directive 86278 EEC on the Protection of the Environment and in Particular of the Soil when Sewage Sludge is used EEC. Brussels.
- Commission, C. A. (2001). In report of the 33rd session of the Codex Committee on Food Additives and Contaminants, Jt. ALINORM. FAO/WHO Food Stand. Program., 01/12A, 1– 289.

Darland JE, I. W. (1997).. J Effects of pH and Phosphate Competition on the Transport of Arsenate. Environmental Quality. 26, 1133–1139.

Direbachew B, Amde M Nigussie, Dechasa R, A. . . (2015). selected heavy metal in some vegetables prouduced through waste water irregation and their toxicological impilication in easter Ethiopia. *African Journal of Food, Nutrition, and Developiment*, *15*(3), 10013–10032.

- D. Demirezen and A. Aksoy. (2006.). "Heavy metal levels in vegetables in Turkey are within safe limits for Cu, Zn, Ni and exceeded for Cd and Pb,." *Journal of Food Quality*,29(3), ,252–265,.
- D. Voutsa, A. Grimanis, and C. S. (1996). "Trace elements in vegetables grown in an industrial area in relation to soil and air particulate matter,." *Environmental Pollution*, 7(3), 325–335.
- Duruibe, J.O., Ogwuegbu, M.D.C. and Egwurugwu, J. N. (2007). . Heavy metal pollution and human bio toxic effects. *International Journal Physical Science*, 2(5), 112–118.
- Esarru, S.polonivelu and kuria, J. (2003). Assessment of Heavy metals in municipal solid waste Dumpsite, Work. Suts, landfills. Management. 139–145.

- FEPA. (1997). Guidelines and standard for environmental impact assessment in Nigeria. Journal of Environment and Earth Science, 87–95.
- G.Chauhan andU. K.Chauhan. (2014). "Human health risk assessment of heavy metals via dietary intake of vegetables grown in wastewater irrigated area of Rewa, India,. "*International Journal of Scientific Research and Publications*,4,(9,), 1–9,
- Ghosh, A.K., Bhatt, M.A. & Agrawal, H. (2012). Effect of long-term application of treated sewage water on heavy metal accumulation in vegetables grown in northern India: *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 2(184), 1025–1036.

Gupta, N., D. K. K. and S. C. S.(2008). An assessment of heavy metal contamination in vegetables grown in wastewater-irrigated areas of Titagarh, West Bengal, India.Bull. . 80: . *Environ. Cont. Toxicol*, 80, 115–118.

Grubinger, V., & Ross, D. (2011). Interpretting the result of soil test for heavy metals. Available at: http://www.uvm.edu/vtvegandberry/factsheets/interpreting_heavy_metals_soil_tests.pdf [Accessed 1 May.

Gupta S, Satpati S, Nayek S, G. D. (2010). Effect of wastewater irrigation on vegetables in relation to bioaccumulation of heavy metals and biochemical changes. *Environ Monit* Assess, 116(11), 169–77.

Honschopp S, Brunken N, Nehrhorn A, B. H. (1996). Isolation and characterization of a new arsenic methylating bacterium from soil. *Microbial Res*, 15(1), 37–41.

- Hussain I., Raschid L., Hanjra M.A., M. F. & V. der H. W. (2001). (2001). A Framework for Analyzing Socio-economic, Health and Environmental Impacts of Wastewater Use in Agriculture in Developing Countries.Working Paper 26: *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, (26).
- Ibe Francis Chizoruo1,, B. O. I. and E. C. E. (2017). Trace metals analysis of soil and edible plant leaves from abandoned municipal waste dumpsite in Owerri, Imo state, Nigeria. 13, 27–42.
- Ideriah TKJ, Omuaru VOT, A. P. (2006). Soil quality around a waste dumpsite in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *African Journal of Ecology*, (44:), 388–394.

Jalali, M. and Khanlari, Z. V. (2007). . Mobility and Distribution of Zinc, Cadmium and Lead in Calcareous Soils Receiving Spiked Sewage Sludge Department of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, Bu-Ali Sina University, Hamadan, Iranpp 604.

Jarup, L. (2003). Hazards of heavy metal contamination. British Medical Bulletin 68:, 167–182.

Janssen R, Peijnenburg W, Posthuma L, V. M. (1997). Equilibrium partitioning of heavy metals in Dutch field soils. I.Relationshipbetween metal partition coefficients and soil characteristics. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *16*(12), 2470–2478.

Kansal, V. K. S. and B. D. (1996). , "Heavy metal contamination of soils and plants with sewage irrigation,. *Pollution. Research*, *vol.4*(1), 86–91,

- Khan, S. Lin, A., Zhang, S., Hu, Q.H. & Zhu, Y. G. (2008). Accumulation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heavy metals in lettuce grown in the soils contaminated with long-term waste water irrigation. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 152(2), 506–515.
- Khan M.U., Malik R.N., Muhammad S., Ullah F., & Q. A. (2015). Health risk assessment of consumption of heavy metals in market food crops from Sialkot and Gujranwala Districts, Pakistan. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: 21(2): An International Journal, 21(2), 327–337.
- KHANNA, S. & KHANNA, P. (2011). Assessment of Heavy Metal Contamination in Different Vegetables Grown in and Around Urban Areas. *Research Journal of Environmental Toxicology*, 162–179.
- K.Chauhan, G. C. and U. (2014). Human health risk assessment of heavy metals via dietary intake of vegetables grown in wastewater irrigated area of Rewa, India,", vo. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Publications*, 4(9), 1–9.
- Khan, A., Javid, S., Muhmood, A., Mjeed, T., Niaz, A., & Majeed, A. (2013). Heavy metal status of soil and vegetables grown on peri-urban area of Lahore district Results and Discussion. 32(1), 49–54.
- Kariml Md. Rezaul, Megumi Kuraoka, Takaya Higuchi, Masahiko Sekine, and T. (2014). Assessment of Heavy Metal Contamination from Municipal Solid Waste Open Dumping Sites in Bangladesh. Journal of Hydrology and Environment, 2(1).

Lawan I. Bukar, Stephen S. Hati, G. A. D. and M. T. (2012). Study of Vertical Migration of Heavy Metals in Dumpsites Soil ARPN. . *Journal of Science and Technology ISSN*, 2225–7217, p 50.

- Lee, B.D., Carter, B.J., Basta, N.T., and Weaver, B. (1997). Factors influencing heavy metal distribution in six Oklahoma benchmark soils. *Soil Science Journal*, *61*, 218–223.
- Li,X.D., C. S. P.and P. S. L. (2001). Heavy metal contamination of urban soils and street dusts in Hong Kong. *Applied Geochem*, 16, 1361–1368.
- Lokeshappa, B., Shivpuri, K., Tripathi, V., & Dikshit, A. K. (2012). Assessment of Toxic Metals in Agricultural Produce, https://doi.org/10.5923/j.fph.20120201.05. 2(1), 24-29.
- LIECIAD. (2000). (Legislation in different European Countries regarding implementation of anaerobic digestion). Swedish Institute of Agricultural Engineering.
- Marine, L.W. Gabrial I, B and Mathy, T. (2005). Heavy metals binding of municipal solid waste land Fill Leachates. *Journal of British Medical Bulletin*, 68:, 167–182.
- Marques, A. P., Rangel, A. O., & Castro, P. M. (n.d.). Remediation of heavy metal contaminated soils: Phytoremediation as a potentially promising clean-up technology., *Environmental Science and Technology*, 622–654.
- Martin, S., & Griswold, W. (2009). . Human health effects of heavy metals. *Environmental* Science and Technology Briefs for Citizens, (15), pp 1-6.
- Mahmoud, E. K., & Ghoneim, A. M. (2016). Effect of polluted water on soil and plant contamination by heavy metals in El-Mahla El-Kobra, Egypt, . https://doi.org/10.5194/se-7-703.703-711.
- MARSHALL, F. (2004). Enhancing Food Chain Integrity: Quality Assurance Mechanism for Air Pollution Impacts on Fruits and Vegetables Systems. (R7530). Crop Post-Harvest Program, Final Technical Report, R7530.
- Mahmood, A., & Malik, R. N. (2014). Human health risk assessment of heavy metals via consumption of contaminated vegetables collected from different irrogation sourced in Lahore, Pakistan. Arabian Journal of Chemistry, 91–99.

MAPANDA, F., MANGWAYANA, E.N., NYAMANGARA, J. & G., & K.E. (2005). The effects

of long-term irrigation using water on heavy metal contents of soils under vegetables.,,. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment, 107, 151–156.

- MalekiAfshin, Hassan Amini, ShahrokhNazmara, S. Z. and A. H. M. (2014). S patial distribution of heavy metals in soil, water, and vegetables of farms in Sanandaj, Kurdistan, Iran., 12:136p3. Journal of Environmental Health Science and Engineering, 12(136), p3.
- Manju Rawat, Ramanathan, A. and K. (2013). Characterization of Municipal Solid Waste Compost (MSWC) from Selected Indian Cities A Case Study for Its Sustainable Utilization. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 163–171(4:), p 168.
- Marie T. Ruel, Nicholas Minot and Lisa Smith (2004). Patterns and determinates of fruit and vegetables consumption in sub-saharan Africa:Multicountry comparation, 21-22(430)
- Moturi, M. C. Z., Rawat, M., and V. (2004). Subramanian, Distribution and fractionation of heavy metals in solid waste from selected sites in the industrial belt of Delhi,India. *Environment Monitoring Assessment*, 95, 183–199.
- Muchuweti M, Birkett JW, Chinyanga E, Zvauya R, Scrimshaw MD, L. J. (2006). Heavy metal content of vegetables irrigated with mixtures of wastewater and sewage sludge in Zimbabwe: implications for human health. *Agric Ecosyst Environ.*, 112, 41–8.
- Mkumbo, S. (2012). Development of a low cost remediation method for heavy metal polluted soils. TRITA LWR Licentiate Thesis Stockholm: Royal Institute of Technology - Department of Land and Water Resources Engineering. (2067).
- M. J. Buchauer. (1993). "Contamination of soil and vegetation near a zinc smelter by zinc, cadmium, copper, and lead,", vol. 7, no. 2,, 1993. Environmental Science & Technology, 7(2), 131–135.
- Nazir, R., Khan, M., Masab, M., Rehman, H. U. R., & Rauf, N. U. R. (2015). Accumulation of Heavy Metals (Ni, Cu, Cd, Cr, Pb, Zn, Fe) in the soil, water and plants and analysis of physico-chemical parameters of soil and water Collected from Tanda Dam kohat .7(3), 89– 97.
- N. Brady and R. Weil. (1996). "The Nature and Properties of Soils," 12th Edition, Prentice,

Upper Saddle River, 1996.

- Okorosaye-Orubite, K., **Igwe, F. U. (2017). Heavy Metals In Edible Vegetables At Abandoned Solid Waste Dump Sites In Port Harcourt, Nigeria. IOSR Journal of Applied Chemistry, 10(11), PP 37-46.
- Odai SN, Mensah E, Sipitey D, Ryo S, A. E. (2008). Heavy metals uptake by vegetables cultivated on urban waste dumpsites: case study of Kumasi. *Ghana Res J Environ Toxicol*, 2, 92–9.
- peam, D, k&Jeewon, R. (2015). ". Fruit and Vegetable Intake :benefit and Progress of Nutrition Education Intervation Review Article, Iran J Puplic Health, 44(10), 1309–1321,.

Plum, L. M., Rink, L., & Haase, H. (2010). The Essential Toxin : Impact of Zinc on Human Health, . https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph7041342. 1342–1365.

- Pradesh, U., Yadav, A., Yadav, P. K., & Shukla, P. D. N. (2013). (2013). Investigation of Heavy metal status in soil and vegetables, 3(9), . 3(9), 1–7.
- Q. Y. Ma, S. J. Traina, T. J. Logan, and J. A. R. (1994). "Effects of Aqueous Al, Cd, Cu, Fe(II), Ni, and Zn on Pb Immobilization by Hydroxyapatite,." *Environmental Science & Technology*, 28(7,), 1219–1228,.
- QISHLAQI, A. & MOORE, F. (2007). Statistical Analysis of Accumulation and Sources of Heavy Metals Occurrence in Agricultural Soils of Khoshk River Banks, Shiraz, Iran. American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Science, 2, 565–573.
- Radwan MA, S. A. (2006). Market basket survey for some heavy metals in Egyptian fruits and vegetables. *Food Chem. Toxicol.*, 44, 1273–1278.
- R. A. Goyer. (1997.). "Toxic and essential metal interactions,", Annual Review of Nutrition, 17, pp. 37-50.
- R. K. Sharma, M. Agrawal, and F. M. M. (2008.). "Atmospheric deposition of heavy metals (Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb) in Varanasi City, India,. *EnvironmentalModeling & Assessment*, 142(1-3,), 269–278,.
 - Ratul, A.K Hasan, M, Uddin, S. (2018). potential health risk of heavy metal accumulation in vegetable irrigated with polluted river water. *International Food Research Journal*, 329–338.

- Report, C.(2002). Toxic Effects Associated With Consumption of Zinc, 77(July), 713-716. https://doi.org/10.4065/77.7.713
- Roy, S., & Gupta, S. (2016). Effect of wastewater irrigation on soil and some selected vegetables grown in Asansol, West Bengal, 6(5), https://doi.org/10.6088/ijes.6084.6(5), 894–904.
- R.C.Tasrina, A. Rowshon, A. M. R. Mustafizur, I. Rafiqul, A., & Ali, M. P. (2015). "Heavy metals contamination in vegetables and its growing soil,." *Journal of Environmental Analytical. Chemistry*, 2(3), article 142.
- Samuel Teye Ametepey1, Samuel Jerry Cobbina1, Felix Jerry Akpabey2, A. B. D., & Abuntori2, and Z. N. (2018). Health risk assessment and heavy metal contamination levels in vegetables from Tamale Metropolis, Ghana. *International Journal of Food Contamination*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40550-018-0067-0</u>.
- SAWIDIS, T.CHETTRI, M.K., PAPAIONNOU, A., ZACHARIADIS, G. & STRATIS, J. (2001). A study of metal distribution from lignite fuels using trees as biological monitors. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 48(1), 27–35.
- SCOTT, D.KEOGHAN, J.M. & ALLAN, B. E. (1996). Native and low-input grasses-a New Zealand high country perspe. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural*, *39*, 499–512.
- SINGH, A., SHARMA, R.K., AGRAWAL, M. & MARSHALL, F. M. (2010). Risk assessment of heavy metal toxicity through contaminated vegetables from waste water irrigated area of Varanasi, India. *International Society for Tropical Ecology*, 51, 375–387.
- Schmidt, S. (2012). Getting the policy right: urban agriculture in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. , (2), pp. *International Development Planning Review*, *34*(2), 130–145.
- Shah, Abdul Niaz, NazeefUllah, Ali Rehman, Muhammad Akhlaq, M. Z., & Khan., M. S. (2011). Comparative Study of Heavy Metals in Soil and Selected Medicinal Plants. *Journal of Chemistry*, 5, 2–14.
- Shehu, A. U. . and U. (2014). Environmental risk assessment of heavy metals content of municipal solid waste used as organic fertilizer in vegetable gardens on the Jos Plateau, Nigeria. American Journal of Environmental Protection. Journal of Environmental Protection, 3((6-2), 1-13.

- Sharma, R.K., M. A. and F. M. (2007). Heavy metal contamination of soil and vegetables in suburban areas of Varansi, India. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety*, 66, 258–266.
- S. Lubben and D. Sauerbeck. (1991). "The uptake and distribution of heavy metals by spring wheat,." *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution,vol.57*(1), 239-247.
- Tinker, P. B. (1991)., "Levels, distribution and chemical forms of trace elements in food plants. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 294(1071), 41–55.
- Tiwari, S., Prasad, I., Mahatma, T., Chitrakoot, G., & Vishwa, G. (2013). Effects of Lead on Environment.
- TDMSW. (2013). (Technical Document on Municipal Solid Waste Organics Processing). Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the. *Minister of the Environment*, *ISBN:*, 978-1-100-21707-9
- Tinker, P. B. (1981). "Levels, distribution and chemical forms of trace elements in food plants.," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society. *B: Biological Sciences*, 294(1071), 41–55.
- Turkdogan, M. K., Kilicel, F., Kara. K., Tuncer, I., & and Uygan, I. (2002). (2002): Heavy metals in soil, vegetables and fruits in the endemic upper gastrointestinal cancer region of Turkey. *Environment, Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 13, 175–179.
- THOMPSON, H.C. & KELLY, W. C. (1990). Vegetable Crops. New Delhi. McGraw Hill Publishing Company Ltd.
- Tech. Rep. (2013). Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater and food stuff" Report of the joint WHO/FAO Volume . World Health Organization (WHO) and Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), Geneva, Switzerland, 2(1).
- Turpeinen R, Pantsar-Kallio M, Haggblom M, K. T. (1999). Influence of microbes on the mobilization, toxicity and biomethylation of arsenic in soil. Sci Total Environ, 236(1–3), 173–80.
- Ukpebor, E. E., Oviasogie, P. O. and Onuigbe, C. A. (2003). The distribution of Mn, Zn, Cu, Cr, Ni and Pb around two major refuse dumpsites in Benin City, Nigeria. Pakista. *Journal of Science Indian Res*, 46(6), 418–423.
- Wieczorek, J.; Wieczorek, T. and Bieniaszewski, T. (2004). Cd and lead content in cereal grains

and soil from cropland adjacent to roadways. Polish ; 14:. *Journal of Environmental Studies*, 14, 535–540.

Annex 1 Determination of calibration curve for heavy metals



Fig 3 calibration curve for Arsenic






Fig 5 calibration curve for lead



Fig 6 calibration curve for Zink



Fig 7 Calibration curve for Chromium



Fig 8 calibration curve for copper

Annex 2

Method detection limit, Limit of quantification and % of recovery

sample	Metal	MDL	LOQ	%Recovery
vegetable	As	0.0325	0.325	102.71
	Cd	0.000302	0.00302	103.6
	Cr	0.002788	0.02788	95.9
	Pb	0.000279	0.00279	98.21
	Cu	0.000346	0.00346	101
	Zn	0.00894	0.0894	102

Annex 3

Proposed Standards for MSW Compost in Developing Countries by mg/kg

Heavy metals proposed standards

Arsenic	10
Cadmium	3
Chromium	50
Copper	80
Lead	150
Mercury	1
Nickel	50
Zinc	300